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FERROGLOBE PLC
(a public limited company having its registered office at c/o Legalinx Ltd, One Fetter Lane, EC4A 1BR London, United Kingdom and incorporated in
England and Wales with company number 9425113)
3

June 2016

Dear Shareholder:
2016 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Ferroglobe PLC (“Ferroglobe” or the “Company”)
You are invited to attend Ferroglobe’s annual general meeting of its shareholders (the “Annual General Meeting”), to be held at 9:00 a.m. (British Summer
Time) on Wednesday, 29 June 2016 at 10 Hill Street, London, W1J 5MG, United Kingdom. The accompanying notice of Annual General Meeting describes
the meeting, the resolutions you will be asked to consider and vote upon and related matters.
Your vote is important, regardless of the number of shares that you own. Whether or not you intend to attend the Annual General Meeting, please vote as
soon as possible to make sure that your shares are represented. You may vote via the internet, by phone or by mail by signing, dating and returning your
proxy card in the envelope provided.
Recommendation
The Company’s board of directors (the “Board”) considers that resolutions 1 to 18 to be put to the Annual General Meeting are in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole and are most likely to promote the success of the Company. The Board unanimously recommends that you vote
“for” each of the proposed resolutions, as the members of the Board intend to do in respect of their beneficial holdings, currently amounting to 5.1 per cent.
of the issued share capital of the Company. Given the interests of the Board in resolution 19, the Board makes no recommendation in relation to, and shall
abstain from voting their beneficial holdings on, resolution 19.
Yours sincerely,

Alan Kestenbaum, Executive Chairman
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FERROGLOBE PLC
(a public limited company having its registered office at c/o Legalinx Ltd, One Fetter Lane, EC4A 1BR London, United Kingdom and incorporated in
England and Wales with company number 9425113)
NOTICE OF 2016 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
To the holders of ordinary shares of Ferroglobe PLC (“Ferroglobe” or the “Company”):
Notice is hereby given that Ferroglobe’s Annual General Meeting of shareholders will be held on Wednesday, 29 June 2016 at 9:00 a.m. (British Summer
Time) at 10 Hill Street, London, W1J 5MG, United Kingdom (“U.K.”).
The business of the Annual General Meeting will be to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions. For notice, voting and all other purposes in
connection with the Annual General Meeting, unless otherwise stated, the ordinary shares and the A ordinary shares of the Company will be treated as a
single class of shares in accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) and shall hereinafter be referred to collectively as the
“Ordinary Shares”.
All resolutions will be proposed as ordinary resolutions, except for resolutions 17 and 18 which will be proposed as special resolutions. Explanations of the
resolutions are given on pages 5 to 14 of this Annual General Meeting notice and additional information for those entitled to attend the Annual General
Meeting can be found on pages 15 to 20.
Certain of the resolutions that shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) will be asked to consider may not be familiar to them because, unlike many
companies with shares traded on the NASDAQ Global Market (“NASDAQ”), the Company is incorporated under the laws of England and Wales and is
therefore subject to the U.K. Companies Act 2006 (the “Companies Act”). The Companies Act obligates the Company to propose certain matters to
Shareholders for approval that would generally not be subject to periodic approval by shareholders of companies incorporated in the United States, but
would be considered routine items for approval by shareholders of companies incorporated in England and Wales.
U.K. annual report and accounts 2015
1.

THAT the directors’ and auditor’s reports and the accounts of the Company for the period from 23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015 (the “U.K.
Annual Report”) be received.

Directors’ 2015 remuneration report (the “Directors’ Remuneration Report”)
2.

THAT the Directors’ Remuneration Report (excluding the directors’ remuneration policy (the “Directors’ Remuneration Policy”)) for the period from
23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015 be approved.

Directors’ Remuneration Policy
3.

THAT the Directors’ Remuneration Policy as set out on pages 12 to 23 of the U.K. Annual Report be approved.
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New incentive plan
4.

THAT the new incentive plan (the “Incentive Plan”), a summary of which is set out on pages 5 to 9 of this Annual General Meeting notice, be
approved.

Director re-elections
5.

THAT Alan Kestenbaum be re-elected as a director.

6.

THAT Javier López Madrid be re-elected as a director.

7.

THAT Donald J. Barger, Jr. be re-elected as a director.

8.

THAT Bruce L. Crockett be re-elected as a director.

9.

THAT Stuart E. Eizenstat be re-elected as a director.

10.

THAT Tomás García Madrid be re-elected as a director.

11.

THAT Greger Hamilton be re-elected as a director.

12.

THAT Javier Monzón be re-elected as a director.

13.

THAT Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes be re-elected as a director.

Appointment of Auditor
14.

THAT Deloitte LLP be appointed as auditor of the Company to hold office from the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting until the conclusion of
the next general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Company.

Remuneration of auditor
15.

THAT the Board be authorised to determine the auditor’s remuneration.

Authority to allot shares
16.

THAT the Board be generally and unconditionally authorised, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act, to exercise all powers of the
Company to allot shares or grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares of the Company in accordance with and subject to the
Articles, such authority to expire on the fifth anniversary of the Annual General Meeting.

Disapplication of pre-emption rights
17.

THAT the Board, pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act, be given the power to allot equity securities for cash, free of the restriction in section
561 of the Companies Act but in accordance with and subject to the Articles, such power to expire on the fifth anniversary of the Annual General
Meeting.

Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an annual general meeting
18.

THAT a general meeting of the Company, other than an annual general meeting, may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.
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Dividend rectification
19.

THAT, upon the sooner to occur of: (i) the capital reduction approved by special resolution of the Company on 23 December 2015 (the “Capital
Reduction”) becoming effective and (ii) the Company otherwise accumulating sufficient distributable profits, in respect of the quarterly dividend paid
by the Company on 14 March 2016 (the “March Dividend”) to Shareholders on the record date of 26 February 2016 (the “Record Date”): (a) the
appropriation of distributable profits of the Company arising from the Capital Reduction or otherwise to such March Dividend be approved and (b) any
and all claims which the Company has or may have arising out of or in connection with (x) the payment of the March Dividend against Shareholders
who appeared on the register of shareholders on the Record Date (or their respective personal representatives and successors in title (as appropriate)) or
(y) the approval, declaration or payment of the March Dividend against each of the directors, be waived and released, and deeds of release in favour of
such Shareholders (or personal representatives or successors in title) and directors be entered into by the Company in the forms set out in Appendix A
and Appendix B.

By order of the Board,

Stephen Lebowitz
Company Secretary
3

June 2016
4

Explanatory notes to the resolutions
Resolution 1 (U.K. Annual Report and Accounts 2015)
The Board is required to present the U.K. Annual Report at the Annual General Meeting. The U.K. statutory accounts of the Company have been prepared on
a non-consolidated basis for the period from 23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015.
Resolution 1 is an advisory vote and in accordance with its obligations under English law, the Company will provide Shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting with the opportunity to receive the U.K. Annual Report and ask any relevant and appropriate questions of the representative of Deloitte LLP in
attendance at the Annual General Meeting.
Resolution 2 (Directors’ Remuneration Report)
Resolution 2 is an advisory vote to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report (excluding the Directors’ Remuneration Policy) as required by sections 439
and 440 of the Companies Act and the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013. The
Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on pages 10 to 34 of the U.K. Annual Report.
Resolution 3 (Directors’ Remuneration Policy)
The Directors’ Remuneration Policy is set out on pages 12 to 23 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report, as set out in the U.K. Annual Report. It sets out the
Company’s forward-looking policy on directors’ remuneration (including information on payments to directors for loss of office) and is subject to a binding
Shareholders’ vote by ordinary resolution at least once every three years. On approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy (and once it commences), all
payments by the Company to its directors and former directors (in their capacity as directors) will be made in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration
Policy, unless a payment has been separately approved by a Shareholder resolution.
In accordance with the Companies Act, the Directors’ Remuneration Policy has been approved by and signed on behalf of the Board and will be delivered to
the Registrar of Companies in the U.K. following the Annual General Meeting.
Resolution 4 (Incentive plan)
Resolution 4 relates to the approval of the Incentive Plan. Set forth below is a summary of the principal terms of the Incentive Plan. In the summary below
only, references to “Ordinary Shares” are to the ordinary shares (currently of $7.50 each) in the Company and for the avoidance of doubt do not include the
class A ordinary shares (currently of $7.50 each) in the Company.
Operation
The compensation committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”) will supervise the operation of the Incentive Plan.
Grant of awards under the Incentive Plan
The Compensation Committee may grant the following types of awards to acquire Ordinary Shares under the Incentive Plan: (i) performance share awards, (ii)
deferred share awards, (iii) deferred share bonus awards and (iv) market value option awards.
Performance share awards, deferred share awards and deferred share bonus awards may be structured either as conditional share awards or as nil (or nominal)
cost options.
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No payment is required for the grant of an award. Awards are not transferable, except on death.
Awards are not pensionable.
Eligibility
Any employee (including an executive director) of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) will be eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee.
Timing of grants
The Compensation Committee may grant awards within six weeks following the Company’s announcement of the Group’s results for any period. The
Compensation Committee may also grant awards within six weeks of Shareholder approval of the Incentive Plan and at any other time when it considers there
to be exceptional circumstances which justify the granting of awards.
The first awards proposed under the Incentive Plan are performance share awards planned for grant to the Company’s executive directors and selected senior
employees shortly following the Annual General Meeting.
Individual limits
An employee may not receive awards in aggregate in any financial year over Ordinary Shares having a market value in excess of ten times their annual basic
salary in that financial year.
Market value for the purposes of the above limits shall be based on the market value of Ordinary Shares on the dealing day immediately preceding the grant
of an award (or by reference to a short averaging period).
Performance conditions
Vesting of deferred share bonus awards is not subject to any performance conditions. The Compensation Committee may determine whether or not other
awards are subject to performance conditions, provided that at least two-thirds (or such other proportion as may be set under the Company’s executive
directors’ remuneration policy from time to time) of the total awards granted to an executive director in any financial year shall be subject to performance
conditions.
The performance conditions proposed for the initial performance-based awards under the Incentive Plan referred to above shall comprise measures of relative
performance and objective strategic targets.
Further details of such performance conditions are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report within the U.K. Annual Report.
The Compensation Committee may, acting fairly and reasonably and after consulting plan participants, vary the performance conditions applying to existing
awards (in a way that the alterations are intended to create an equivalent outcome for plan participants) if an unexpected event (corporate or outside event)
has occurred which causes the Compensation Committee to consider that it would be appropriate to amend the performance conditions, provided the
Compensation Committee considers the varied conditions are fair and reasonable and not materially more or less challenging than the original conditions
would have been but for the event in question.
Vesting of awards
Awards shall be set with a normal vesting date of the third anniversary of the grant of the award unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise for
the award and in the case of awards to executive directors of the Company subject to the approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy.
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Where awards are granted in the form of options, once vested, such options will then be exercisable up until the tenth anniversary of grant (or such shorter
period specified by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant) unless they lapse earlier.
Shorter exercise periods shall apply in the case of “good leavers”, in the case of termination by the Company without cause or resignation for good reason
and/or vesting of awards in connection with corporate events.
Leaving employment
As a general rule, an award (other than deferred share bonus awards) will lapse upon a participant ceasing to hold employment or ceasing to be a director
within the Group if such participant resigns voluntarily or if terminated for cause.
However, if the participant ceases to be an employee or a director within the Group because of his death, injury, disability, his employing company or the
business for which they work being sold out of the Group, resignation for good reason, termination without cause or in other circumstances at the discretion
of the Compensation Committee, then their award will ordinarily vest on the date when it would have vested if he/she had not so ceased.
The extent to which an award will vest in these situations will depend upon the extent to which the performance conditions (if any) have been satisfied over
the full performance period. If the participant’s award is vesting at the discretion of the Compensation Committee then the Compensation Committee may
pro-rate the award if it regards it as appropriate to do so.
The Compensation Committee can decide that an award will vest on cessation, subject to the performance conditions measured at that time.
Deferred share bonus awards will vest in full upon termination of employment, other than in case of voluntary resignation by the participant without good
reason where the Compensation Committee may in its discretion determine that an award should vest in whole or in part or termination by the Company for
cause.
Corporate events
In the event of a takeover or winding-up of the Company (not being an internal corporate reorganisation), all awards will vest early to the extent that the
performance conditions (if any) are determined as satisfied at that time on such basis as the Compensation Committee considers appropriate (which may
include regard to forecasted performance).
In the event of an internal corporate reorganisation, awards will be replaced by equivalent new awards over shares in another company unless the
Compensation Committee decides that awards should vest on the basis which would apply in the case of a takeover.
If a demerger, special dividend or other similar event is proposed which, in the opinion of the Compensation Committee, would affect the market price of
Ordinary Shares to a material extent, then the Compensation Committee may decide that awards will vest on the basis which would apply in the case of a
takeover as described above.
Dividend equivalents
The Compensation Committee may decide that participants will receive a payment (in cash and/or shares) on or shortly following the vesting (or exercise, as
relevant) of their awards, of an amount equivalent to the dividends payable on vested shares between the date of grant and the vesting of an award. This
amount may assume the reinvestment of dividends.
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Recovery and withholding
In the case of performance share awards, deferred share bonus awards and market value option awards, the Compensation Committee may decide that the
Incentive Plan’s recovery and withholding provisions shall apply if, within three years of the vesting of any such award, it is discovered that the award vested
to a greater extent than was warranted as a result of a material misstatement in the Group’s financial results or an error in assessing any applicable performance
condition and/or pre-vesting gross misconduct is discovered, which shall be defined the same as cause.
In the case of deferred bonus awards, the Compensation Committee may decide that the Incentive Plan’s recovery and withholding provisions shall apply if,
within three years of the grant of any such award, it is discovered that the award was granted to a greater extent than warranted as a result of a material
misstatement in the Group’s financial results or an error in assessing any applicable bonus condition and/or pre-vesting gross misconduct is discovered,
which shall be defined the same as cause.
The recovery and withholding may be satisfied by way of a reduction in the amount of any future bonus and/or future share awards.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent and in the manner required by applicable law (including without limitation Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act) and/or the rules and regulations of NASDAQ or other securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which any Ordinary Shares are listed or
quoted (collectively, the “Rules”), awards shall be subject (including on a retroactive basis for a maximum of up to eighteen months) to, in order of action:
first, forfeiture or similar requirements set forth in such Rules, and if not possible because such amounts are insufficient, clawback (and such requirements
shall be deemed incorporated by reference into the Incentive Plan).
Cash settlement
The Compensation Committee may decide to satisfy awards in cash.
Life of Incentive Plan
An award may not be granted more than ten years after the date on which the Incentive Plan was adopted.
Participants’ rights
Awards will not confer any shareholder rights until the awards have vested or the options have been exercised, as relevant, and the participants have received
their Ordinary Shares.
Rights attaching to Ordinary Shares
Any Ordinary Shares allotted in relation to the Incentive Plan will rank equally with Ordinary Shares then in issue (except for rights arising by reference to a
record date prior to their allotment).
Adjustment to awards
In the event of any variation of the Company’s share capital or in the event of a demerger, payment of a special dividend or similar event which materially
affects the market price of the Ordinary Shares, the Compensation Committee or Board, as relevant, shall make such adjustment to the number of Ordinary
Shares subject to an award and/or the exercise price payable (if any) and/or to the limit on the number of Ordinary Shares that may be used in connection with
the Incentive Plan.
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Type of shares available for use under the Incentive Plan
The Incentive Plan may operate over newly issued Ordinary Shares, Ordinary Shares held in treasury or Ordinary Shares purchased in the market.
An employee benefit trust may be used in connection with the Incentive Plan to source Ordinary Shares (for example, being used to facilitate market
purchases of Ordinary Shares and/or the subscription of new issue Ordinary Shares).
Limit on new shares and treasury shares
In any ten calendar year period, the Company may not issue (or grant rights to issue) more than:
(i)

ten per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company under the Incentive Plan and any other employee share plan adopted by the
Company; and

(ii)

five per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company under the Incentive Plan and any other executive share incentive plan adopted by the
Company.

Ordinary Shares held in treasury will count as new issue Ordinary Shares for the purposes of these limits unless U.K. best practice corporate governance
guidelines cease to require treasury Ordinary Shares held in treasury to be counted for such purposes.
Alterations
The Compensation Committee may, at any time, amend the Incentive Plan in any respect, provided that the prior approval of Shareholders is obtained for any
amendments that are to the advantage of participants in respect of the rules governing eligibility, limits on participation, the overall limits on the issue of
Ordinary Shares or the transfer of treasury Ordinary Shares, the basis for determining a participant’s entitlement to, and the terms of, the Ordinary Shares or
cash to be acquired and the adjustment of awards.
The requirement to obtain the prior approval of Shareholders will not, however, apply to any minor alteration made to benefit the administration of the
Incentive Plan, to take account of a change in legislation or to obtain or maintain favourable tax, exchange control or regulatory treatment for participants or
for any company in the Group. Shareholder approval will also not be required for any amendments to any performance condition applying to an award varied
on its terms.
Overseas plans
The Incentive Plan allows the Compensation Committee or Board to establish further plans for overseas territories, any such plan to be similar to the
Incentive Plan (or any of its elements), but modified to take account of local tax, exchange control or securities laws, provided that any Ordinary Shares made
available under such further plans are treated as counting against the limits on individual and overall participation in the Incentive Plan.
Resolutions 5 to 13 (directors seeking re-election)
Resolutions 5 to 13 relate to the reappointments of the directors. Set forth below is a short biography of each of the Company’s directors.
Alan Kestenbaum has served as a director, Executive Chairman and Principal Executive Officer since 23 December 2015. He has served as Executive
Chairman and director of Globe since its inception in December 2004, and served as Chief Executive Officer from its inception through May 2008 and from
31 August 2015 until the closing of the business combination of Globe and FerroAtlántica pursuant to which each entity became wholly owned subsidiaries
of the Company on 23 December 2015 (“Business Combination”). From June 2004,
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Mr. Kestenbaum served as Chairman of Globe Metallurgical, Inc., until its acquisition by Globe in November 2006. He has over 30 years of experience in
metals including finance, distribution, trading and manufacturing. Mr. Kestenbaum is a founder and was the Chief Executive Officer of Marco International
Corp. and its affiliates, a finance trading group specialising in metals, minerals and other raw materials, founded in 1985. Mr. Kestenbaum began his career in
metals with Glencore, Inc. and Philipp Brothers in New York City. He received his B.A. degree in Economics cum laude from Yeshiva University, New York.
Javier López Madrid has served as a director since the Company’s inception in February 2015 and has served as Executive Vice-Chairman since
23 December 2015. He is Managing Director of Grupo Villar Mir, S.A.U. (“Grupo VM”). He is founder and non-executive chairman of the venture group
Siacapital and Tressis. In addition to his professional activities, he is also a member of the World Economic Forum, Group of Fifty. Mr. López Madrid holds a
Master in law and business from ICADE University. As noted in Part I, Item 8 Financial Information of the Company’s 2015 Form 20-F, Mr. López Madrid is
subject to ongoing legal proceedings in Spain. Mr. López Madrid denies all allegations made against him and intends to defend himself vigorously in the
ongoing proceedings.
Donald G. Barger, Jr. has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He is a member of the Company’s Compensation Committee and serves as the
chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. He served as a member of the Globe board of directors since December 2008 until the
closing of the Business Combination and was Chairman of Globe’s Audit Committee and Chairman of Globe’s Compensation Committee. Mr. Barger had a
successful 36 year business career in manufacturing and services companies. He retired in February 2008 from YRC Worldwide Inc. (formerly Yellow
Roadway Corporation), one of the world’s largest transportation service providers. Mr. Barger served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of YRC Worldwide Inc. from December 2000 to August 2007 and from August 2007 until his retirement as advisor to the CEO. From March 1998 to
December 2000, Mr. Barger was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hillenbrand Industries, a provider of services and products for the health care
and funeral services industries. From 1993 to 1998, Mr. Barger was Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Worthington Industries, Inc., a
diversified steel processor. Mr. Barger served on the Board of Directors of Gardner Denver, Inc. and was a member of the Audit Committee for his entire
nineteen year tenure until the company’s sale in July 2013. He served as Chair of the committee seventeen of those years. He also served on the Board of
Directors of Quanex Building Products Corporation for sixteen years, retiring in February 2012. Additionally, he served on the Audit Committee for fourteen
years and was its Chair for most of that time. He also serves on the Board of Directors of Precision Aerospace Components, Inc. On all the public company
boards on which Mr. Barger served, he was considered a “financial expert” for SEC purposes. Mr. Barger received a B.S. degree from the U.S. Naval Academy
and an M.B.A. degree from the University of Pennsylvania.
Bruce L. Crockett has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee and the BCA Special Committee. He
served as a member of Globe’s board of directors since April 2014 until the closing of the Business Combination and was a member of Globe’s Audit
Committee. Mr. Crockett is Chairman of the Invesco Mutual Funds Group Board of Directors, and is also a member of the audit, investment and governance
committees. He serves as a member of the Investment Company Institute’s Board of Governors and as a director and audit committee chair of ALPS
Property & Casualty Insurance Company. Mr. Crockett is the chairman of Crockett Technologies Associates and a private investor. Mr. Crockett served as
President and Chief Executive Officer of COMSAT Corporation from February 1992 until July 1996 and as President and Chief Operating Officer of
COMSAT from April 1991 to February 1992. As an employee of COMSAT since 1980, Mr. Crockett held various other operational and financial positions
including Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Crockett served as a director of Ace Limited from 1995 until 2012 and as a director of Captaris, Inc.
from 2001 until its acquisition in 2008, and as Chairman from 2003 to 2008. Mr. Crockett is also a life trustee of the University of Rochester. Mr. Crockett
received an A.B. degree from the University of Rochester, a B.S. degree from the University of Maryland, and an M.B.A. degree from Columbia University
and holds an honorary Doctor of Law degree from the University of Maryland.
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Stuart E. Eizenstat has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He is a member of the Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
and BCA Special Committee. He served as a director of Globe since February 2008 until the closing of the Business Combination and was the Chairman of
Globe’s Nominating Committee. Mr. Eizenstat is Senior Counsel of Covington & Burling LLP in Washington, D.C. and heads the law firm’s international
practice. He served as Deputy Secretary of the United States Department of the Treasury from July 1999 to January 2001. He was Under Secretary of State for
Economic, Business and Agricultural Affairs from 1997 to 1999. Mr. Eizenstat served as Under Secretary of Commerce for International Trade from 1996 to
1997 and was the U.S. Ambassador to the European Union from 1993 to 1996. During the Clinton Administration he also served as Special Representative of
the President and Secretary of State on Holocaust Issues. From 1977 to 1981 he was Chief Domestic Policy Advisor in the White House to President Carter.
He is a trustee of BlackRock Funds and served as a member of the Board of Directors of Alcatel-Lucent until 2016. He served as a member of the Board of
Directors of United Parcel Service from 2005 to 2015. He serves on the Advisory Board of GML Ltd. and Office of Cherifien de Phosphates. He has received
eight honorary doctorate degrees and awards from the United States, French, German, Austrian, Belgian and Israeli governments. He is the author of
“Imperfect Justice: Looted Assets, Slave Labor, and the Unfinished Business of World War II” and “The Future of the Jews: How Global Forces are Impacting
the Jewish People, Israel, and its Relationship with the United States.” He currently serves as a Special Adviser to Secretary of State Kerry on Holocaust-Era
Issues. Mr. Eizenstat holds a B.A. in Political Science from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and a J.D. from Harvard Law School.
Tomás García Madrid has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He is a member of the Company’s Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee. Mr. García Madrid is the Managing Director of Grupo VM. He has served on the board of directors of Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. since 1996. He
also has served on the board of Obrascon Huarte Lain Mexico since 2010 and Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. since 2012. Mr. García Madrid holds a Master’s
Degree in Civil Engineering from the Universidad Politécnica de Madrid and a Masters in Business Administration from Universidad IESE.
Greger Hamilton has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He is a member of the Company’s Compensation Committee and BCA Special
Committee and serves as chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Hamilton is Managing Partner of Ovington Financial Partners, LTD, a role he has held since
2009. From 2009-2014 he also served as a Partner at European Resolution Capital Partners, where he assisted in the restructuring of international banks in 16
countries. Prior to that, he was a Managing Director at Goldman Sachs International, where he worked from 1997-2008. He began his career at McKinsey and
Company, where he worked from 1990-1997. Mr. Hamilton holds a B.A. in Business Economics and International Commerce from Brown University.
Javier Monzón has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He is a member of the Company’s Audit Committee and serves as chairman of the
Compensation Committee. He has been a board member of ACS Servicios y Concesiones, S.A., a subsidiary of the Spanish ACS (Actividades de Construcción
y Servicios, S.A.) since 2004 and was a board member of the Spanish ACS from 2004 to 2016. He has been a member of the supervisory board of the French
Lagardère SCA since 2008, as well as member of the advisory council of Chemo group and senior advisor to the group executive chairman at Banco
Santander, both since June 2015. Prior to that, Mr. Monzón was Chairman and CEO of Indra Sistemas, S.A. from 1992 until 2015. He was a Partner at Arthur
Andersen from 1989-1990. He also served as Chief Financial Officer of Telefonica, S.A. from 1984-1987, after which he acted as Executive Vice President
until 1989. Mr. Monzón began his career at Caja Madrid, where he was a Corporate Banking Director. Mr. Monzón served as vice chairman of the American
Chamber of Commerce in Spain from March 2010 until January 2015 and is member of the international advisory council of Brookings since 2014. He holds
a Degree in Economics from Universidad Complutense de Madrid.
Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes has served as a director since 23 December 2015. He has acted as the Vice Chairman of Grupo VM since 1999. He is also Vice
Chairman and CEO of Inmobiliaria Espacio, S.A. Mr. Villar-Mir de Fuentes has served on the board of directors of Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. since 1996 and
the
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board of directors of Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. since 2012. He also serves as a director and on the audit committee of Inmobiliaria Colonial, S.A. He holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration and Economics and Business Management.
Resolution 14 (appointment of auditor)
At each general meeting at which accounts are laid before the Shareholders, the Company is required to appoint an auditor to serve until the conclusion of
the next such meeting. Deloitte LLP has served as the Company’s U.K. statutory auditor since 3 February 2016.
If this resolution does not receive the affirmative vote of a majority of the Ordinary Shares entitled to vote and present in person or represented by proxy at
the Annual General Meeting, the Board may appoint an auditor to fill the vacancy.
Resolution 15 (remuneration of auditor)
Under the Companies Act, the remuneration of the Company’s U.K. statutory auditor must be fixed in a general meeting or in such manner as may be
determined in a general meeting. The Company is asking its Shareholders to authorise the Board to determine the remuneration of Deloitte LLP in its
capacity as the Company’s U.K. statutory auditor under the Companies Act.
Resolution 16 (authority to allot shares)
This resolution is required periodically under the Companies Act and it is customary for public limited companies incorporated under the laws of England
and Wales to seek approval for this resolution annually. The resolution is required as a matter of English law and is not otherwise required for other
companies listed on NASDAQ or organised within the United States.
Under the Companies Act, directors are, with certain exceptions (such as in connection with employees’ share schemes), unable to allot, or issue, shares
without being authorised either by the Shareholders in a general meeting or by the Articles. Article 5 of the Articles authorises the Board for a period of five
years from the adoption of the Articles to generally and unconditionally allot shares and grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in
the Company up to an aggregate amount representing 50 per cent. of the number of shares in the capital of the Company as at the adoption of the Articles and
after consummation of the Business Combination. Unlike most U.S. companies listed on NASDAQ that have perpetual authority under their charter or articles
of incorporation, the Company’s authority only continues for five years and thereafter must be renewed, if not renewed sooner.
The Company proposes that the Shareholders authorise the Board at the Annual General Meeting to generally and unconditionally, subject to the provisions
of the Articles and the Companies Act, in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act, to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot shares in the
Company or grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into shares in the Company up to an aggregate amount representing 50 per cent. of the
number of shares in the capital of the Company, being 85,919,076 Ordinary Shares, provided that the Board shall be authorised to make an offer or agreement
which would or might require shares to be allotted, or rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares to be granted, after expiry of this authority
and the Board may allot Ordinary Shares and grant rights in pursuance of that offer or agreement as if this authority had not expired.
Approval of this resolution does not affect any Shareholder approval requirements of NASDAQ for share issuances, such as in connection with certain
acquisitions or in connection with raising additional capital. The Company will continue to be subject to NASDAQ shareholder approval requirements.
This authority will expire on the fifth anniversary of the Annual General Meeting, unless renewed or revoked sooner by Shareholders. There is no present
intention of exercising this authority.
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Resolution 17 (disapplication of pre-emption rights)
This special resolution is required periodically under the Companies Act and it is customary for public limited companies incorporated under the laws of
England and Wales to seek approval for this resolution annually. This authorisation is required as a matter of English law and is not otherwise required for
other companies listed on NASDAQ or organised within the United States.
In addition to the authorisation to allot securities as set forth in resolution 16, under the Companies Act, the issuance of equity securities that are to be paid
for wholly in cash (except shares held under an employees’ share scheme) must be offered first to the existing equity Shareholders in proportion to their
holdings, unless a special resolution (i.e. at least 75 per cent. of votes cast) to the contrary has been passed in a general meeting of Shareholders. Unlike most
U.S. companies listed on NASDAQ which have no similar restrictions, the Board can only, pursuant to Article 5 of the Articles, exclude pre-emptive rights in
respect of such issuances for five years and thereafter must be renewed, if not renewed sooner.
The Company proposes that, subject to the passing of the resolution included in resolution 16, the Board be generally empowered to allot equity securities
(as defined in the Companies Act) pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution 16 for cash, free of the restriction in section 561 of the Companies Act.
This special resolution would give the directors the ability to raise additional capital by selling Ordinary Shares for cash or conduct a rights issue without
first offering them to existing Shareholders in proportion to their existing holdings. Absent this ability, the Company’s flexibility to use the share capital to
pursue strategic transactions or finance growth would be severely limited.
The power would be limited to allotments representing 50 per cent. of the number of shares in the capital of the Company, being 85,919,076 Ordinary Shares.
In addition, pursuant to the shareholder agreement between the Company and Grupo VM, dated 23 December 2015, as amended on 10 February 2016 (the
“Shareholder Agreement”), the Company has granted Grupo VM contractual pre-emptive rights with respect to certain issuances of the Company’s equity
securities. Any allotment or issuance by the Company will need to be made subject to and in accordance with the terms of such Shareholder Agreement.
The power conferred by this special resolution shall apply in substitution for all existing powers under section 570 of the Companies Act and expire on the
fifth anniversary of the Annual General Meeting, unless renewed or revoked by Shareholders, save that the Company may before such expiry make offers or
agreements which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of any
such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the power conferred by this special resolution has expired.
Resolution 18 (reduced notice of a general meeting other than an annual general meeting)
Under the Companies Act, as the Company is a public limited company, the default minimum notice period for convening a general meeting is 21 clear days,
unless shareholders approve a shorter notice period, which cannot be less than 14 clear days. This special resolution would enable the Company to hold
general meetings, other than an annual general meeting, on 14 clear days’ notice. It is envisaged that a similar resolution would be proposed each year at the
Company’s annual general meeting. Under the Companies Act, a reference to a period of clear days’ notice means that, when calculating the specified notice
period, the day of the meeting and the day that the notice is given, are excluded.
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Resolution 19 (dividend rectification)
As you might recall, it was explained in our F-4 filing in 2015 that the Company would seek to reduce the par value of the Ordinary Shares from $7.50 to
$0.01, following the consummation of the Business Combination and the net debt adjustment process, to create distributable reserves. This process, known in
the U.K. as a “capital reduction” or “reduction of capital” was formally approved by a special shareholder resolution on 23 December 2015 as part of the
merger approval process, and will require an application to court in the U.K. It is anticipated that the Capital Reduction will result in sufficient distributable
reserves being available to continue the $0.08 per quarter dividend. The March Dividend was paid at a time prior to commencement of this process.
The Companies Act permits a public limited company to pay a dividend out of its distributable profits as shown in the last annual accounts or, if they show
insufficient distributable profits, interim accounts showing sufficient distributable profits that have first been filed with Companies House. While the
Company prepared and filed interim accounts showing reserves in excess of the amount of the March Dividend, it was discovered in the process of preparing
the U.K. statutory accounts for the U.K. Annual Report that these reserves were non-distributable in nature. The Company therefore did not have sufficient
distributable reserves to pay the March Dividend.
The Company has been independently advised that, as a result of the March Dividend not having been paid in accordance with the Companies Act, it may
have claims against: (i) the Shareholders on the Record Date who received the March Dividend and (ii) the directors. The Company has no intention of
exercising any such claims that may exist. This resolution asks Shareholders to approve the appropriation of the future distributable profits of the Company
arising upon the sooner to occur of (i) the Capital Reduction becoming effective and (ii) the Company otherwise accumulating sufficient distributable profits,
to the March Dividend and to release the current and former Shareholders and directors from any claim by the Company for repayment of the March
Dividend. The purpose of the resolution is to put the Shareholders and former Shareholders and directors into the position in which they were always
intended to be. Each of the directors has undertaken to abstain from voting on this resolution.
The Capital Reduction was approved by a special resolution on 23 December 2015. However, it is necessary to apply to the High Court of England and
Wales (the “Court”) for an order to confirm the Capital Reduction (the Company is currently undertaking this process). Once the application is submitted, a
Court hearing will take place. At the hearing, the Court may make an order to confirm the Capital Reduction under the Companies Act and, if an order is
granted, the Capital Reduction will become effective upon registration of the Court’s order and a statement of capital with the Registrar of Companies. The
process of seeking and obtaining a Court order (if any is granted) may take several months, but there is a possibility it could be completed prior to the Annual
General Meeting. If no order is granted, it may take considerably longer for the Company to generate sufficient distributable profits to allow the Company to
appropriate them in the manner contemplated by this resolution.
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Notes:
1.

Some of the resolutions are items that are required to be approved by Shareholders periodically under the Companies Act and generally do not have an
analogous requirement under United States laws and regulations. As such, while these resolutions may be familiar and routine to Shareholders
accustomed to being shareholders of companies incorporated in England and Wales, other Shareholders may be less familiar with these routine
resolutions and should review and consider each resolution carefully.

2.

In accordance with the Articles, all resolutions will be taken on a poll. Voting on a poll will mean that each Ordinary Share represented in person or by
proxy will be counted in the vote. For notice, voting and all other purposes in connection with the Annual General Meeting, unless otherwise stated,
the ordinary shares and the A ordinary shares of the Company are to be treated as a single class of shares.

3.

All of the resolutions, apart from resolutions 17 and 18, will be proposed as ordinary resolutions, which means that such resolutions must be passed by
a simple majority of the total voting rights of Shareholders who vote on such resolutions, whether in person or by proxy. The results of the
Shareholders’ vote on resolutions 1 and 2 regarding receipt of the U.K. Annual Report and approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Report (excluding
the Directors Remuneration Policy) will not require the Board or any committee thereof to take (or refrain from taking) any action. The Board values
the opinion of Shareholders as expressed through such resolutions and will carefully consider the outcome of the votes on resolutions 1 and 2.
Resolutions 17 and 18 will be proposed as special resolutions, which means that such resolutions must be passed by at least 75% of the total voting
rights of Shareholders who vote on such resolutions, whether in person or by proxy.

4.

“Shareholders of record” are those persons registered in the register of members of the Company in respect of Ordinary Shares. If, however, Ordinary
Shares are held for you in a stock brokerage account or by a broker, bank or other nominee, you are considered the “beneficial owner” of those
Ordinary Shares.

5.

Beneficial owners of Ordinary Shares as at 9:00 a.m. (BST time) on 10 May 2016 have the right to direct their broker or other agent on how to vote the
Ordinary Shares in their account and are also invited to attend the Annual General Meeting. However, as beneficial owners are not Shareholders of
record of the relevant Ordinary Shares, they may not vote their Ordinary Shares at the Annual General Meeting unless they request and obtain a legal
proxy from their broker or agent.

6.

Any Shareholder of record attending the Annual General Meeting has the right to ask questions. The Company must cause to be answered any
questions put by a Shareholder of record attending the meeting relating to the business being dealt with at the Annual General Meeting unless to do so
would interfere unduly with the business of the meeting, be undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the meeting, involve the
disclosure of confidential information, or if the information has already been given on the Company’s website.

7.

In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, and in accordance with the Articles, a Shareholder of record who is entitled to attend and vote
at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint another person as his or her proxy to exercise all or any of his or her rights to attend and to speak
and vote at the Annual General Meeting and to appoint more than one proxy in relation to the Annual General Meeting (provided that each proxy is
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Ordinary Share(s)). Such proxy need not be a Shareholder of record, but must attend the Annual
General Meeting and vote as the Shareholder of record instructs for such vote to be counted. Further details regarding the process to appoint a proxy,
voting and the deadlines therefore, are set out in the “Voting Process and Revocation of Proxies” section below.

8.

The results of the polls taken on the resolutions at the Annual General Meeting and any other information required by the Companies Act will be made
available on the Company’s website as soon as reasonably practicable following the Annual General Meeting and for a period of two years thereafter.

9.

A copy of this Annual General Meeting notice can be found at the Company’s website www.ferroglobe.com.
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10.

Recipients of this notice and the accompanying materials may not use any electronic address provided in this notice or such materials to communicate
with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.

11.

To be admitted to the Annual General Meeting, please bring your Admission Ticket that you have received through the post. You will need to be able
to provide your photo identification at the registration desk.

12.

On arrival at the Annual General Meeting venue, all those entitled to vote will be required to register and collect a poll card. In order to facilitate these
arrangements, please arrive at the Annual General Meeting venue in good time. You will be given instructions on how to complete your poll card at the
Annual General Meeting.
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VOTING PROCESS AND REVOCATION OF PROXIES
If you are a Shareholder of record, there are three ways to vote by proxy:
•

By Internet – You can vote over the Internet at www.envisionreports.com/FGLO by following the instructions at such web address. You will need
to enter your control number, which is a 15-digit number located in a box on your proxy card. We encourage you to vote by Internet even if you
received this Annual General Meeting notice in the mail.

•

By Telephone – You may vote and submit your proxy by calling toll-free 1-800-652-8683 in the United States and providing your control
number, which is a 15-digit number located in a box on your proxy card.

•

By Mail – If you received this Annual General Meeting notice by mail or if you requested paper copies of the Annual General Meeting notice,
you can vote by mail by marking, dating, signing and returning the proxy card in the postage-paid envelope.

Telephone and Internet voting facilities for Shareholders of record will be available 24 hours a day and will close at 9:01 a.m. (British Summer Time) on
Monday 27 June 2016. Submitting your proxy by any of these methods will not affect your ability to attend the Annual General Meeting in-person and vote
at the Annual General Meeting.
If your shares are held in “street name”, meaning you are a beneficial owner with your shares held through a bank or brokerage firm, you will receive
instructions from your bank or brokerage firm, which is the holder of record of your shares. You must follow the instructions of the Shareholder of record in
order for your shares to be voted. Telephone and Internet voting may also be offered to Shareholders owning shares through certain banks and brokers,
according to their individual policies.
The Company has retained Computershare to receive and tabulate the proxies.
If you submit proxy voting instructions and direct how your shares will be voted, the individuals named as proxies will vote your shares in the manner you
indicate.
A Shareholder who has given a proxy may revoke it at any time before it is exercised at the Annual General Meeting by:
•

attending the Annual General Meeting and voting in person;

•

voting again by the Internet or Telephone (only the last vote cast by each Shareholder of record will be counted), provided that the Shareholder
does so before 9:00 a.m. (British Summer Time) on Monday 27 June 2016.

•

delivering a written notice, at the address given below, bearing a date later than that indicated on the proxy card or the date you voted by
Internet or Telephone, but prior to the date of the Annual General Meeting, stating that the proxy is revoked; or

•

signing and delivering a subsequently dated proxy card prior to the vote at the Annual General Meeting.

You should send any written notice or new proxy card to Proxy Services, c/o Computershare Investor Services, PO Box 30202 College Station, TX 778429909, USA.
If you are a registered Shareholder you may request a new proxy card by calling Computershare at 1-866-490-6057 if calling from the United States, or 1-781575-2780 from outside the United States, or you may also send a request via email to webqueries@computershare.com.
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ANY SHAREHOLDER OWNING SHARES IN STREET NAME MAY CHANGE OR REVOKE PREVIOUSLY GIVEN VOTING INSTRUCTIONS BY
CONTACTING THE BANK OR BROKERAGE FIRM HOLDING THE SHARES OR BY OBTAINING A LEGAL PROXY FROM SUCH BANK OR
BROKERAGE FIRM AND VOTING IN PERSON AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING. YOUR LAST VOTE, PRIOR TO OR AT THE ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING, IS THE VOTE THAT WILL BE COUNTED.
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Location of Annual General Meeting:
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DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
The service contracts of the executive directors (or a memorandum of the terms where the contract is unwritten), the appointment letters of the non-executive
directors (or a memorandum of the terms where the terms are unwritten) and the Incentive Plan will be available for inspection at the Company’s registered
office during normal business hours and at the place of the Annual General Meeting from at least 15 minutes prior to the start of the meeting until the end of
the Annual General Meeting.
By order of the Board,

Stephen Lebowitz
Company Secretary
3

June 2016
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APPENDIX A
FORM OF SHAREHOLDER DEED OF RELEASE
THIS DEED POLL is made on [ l ]
By FERROGLOBE PLC (registered number 9425113) whose registered office is at c/o Legalinx Ltd, One Fetter Lane, EC4A 1BR London, United Kingdom
(the “Company”) in favour of the Shareholders on the Record Date.
WHEREAS:
A.

As explained in the Annual General Meeting notice addressed to the Shareholders of the Company dated 3 June 2016, the Board has become aware
that the Company had insufficient distributable reserves to pay the March Dividend.

B.

The Company has been advised that, as a consequence of the March Dividend not having been paid in accordance with Companies Act, it may have
claims against those Shareholders and former Shareholders who were recipients of the March Dividend.

C.

Pursuant to resolution 19 set out in the Annual General Meeting notice as duly passed by the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, the
Company proposes to waive and release any and all claims which it has or may have in respect of the March Dividend against the Shareholders and
former Shareholders on the Record Date and wishes to enter into this deed poll in favour of such Shareholders and former Shareholders in order to effect
the same.

THIS DEED POLL WITNESSES as follows:
1. RELEASE
The Company unconditionally and irrevocably waives and releases each of the Shareholders and former Shareholders on the Record Date from any and all
liability that any such Shareholder or former Shareholders has or may have to the Company and all claims and demands the Company has or may have
against each of them in connection with the receipt by them of all or part of the March Dividend.
2. DEFINITIONS
Terms capitalised but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Annual General Meeting notice.
3. GOVERNING LAW
This deed poll is governed by English law. Any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this deed poll shall be governed and
construed in accordance with English law.
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APPENDIX B
FORM OF DIRECTOR DEED OF RELEASE
THIS DEED POLL is made on [ l ]
By FERROGLOBE PLC (registered number 9425113) whose registered office is at c/o Legalinx Ltd, One Fetter Lane, EC4A 1BR London, United Kingdom
(the “Company”) in favour of the directors on the Record Date.
WHEREAS:
A.

As explained in the Annual General Meeting notice addressed to the Shareholders of the Company dated 3 June 2016, the Board has become aware
that the Company had insufficient distributable reserves to pay the March Dividend.

B.

The Company has been advised that, as a consequence of the March Dividend not having been paid in accordance with Companies Act, it may have
claims against the directors on the Record Date.

C.

Pursuant to resolution 19 set out in the Annual General Meeting notice, as duly passed by the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 29 June
2016, the Company proposes to waive and release any and all claims which it has or may have in respect of the March Dividend against the Board on
the Record Date and wishes to enter into this deed poll in favour of the Board in order to effect the same.

THIS DEED POLL WITNESSES as follows:
1. RELEASE
The Company unconditionally and irrevocably waives and releases each of the directors on the Record Date from any and all liability that any such directors
have or may have to the Company and all claims and demands the Company has or may have against each of them in connection with receipt by them of all
or part of the March Dividend.
2. DEFINITIONS
Terms capitalised but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Annual General Meeting notice.
3. GOVERNING LAW
This deed poll is governed by English law. Any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with this deed poll shall be governed and
construed in accordance with English law.
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Ferroglobe PLC
Introduction
Ferroglobe PLC is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales. Headquartered in London, United Kingdom, Ferroglobe
(encompassing its subsidiaries Globe and FerroAtlántica) is a global leader in the growing silicon and specialty metals industry with an expanded
geographical reach, building on Globe’s footprint in North America and FerroAtlántica’s footprint in Europe.
The Company (formerly known as VeloNewco Limited), was incorporated as a private limited liability company in the United Kingdom on 5 February 2015,
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Grupo VM. On 23 December 2015, following receipt of all required regulatory clearances and approvals, FerroAtlántica and
Globe combined their businesses under Ferroglobe to create one of the largest producers worldwide of silicon metal and silicon- and manganese-based alloys.
Ferroglobe acquired from Grupo VM all of the issued and outstanding ordinary shares, par value €1,000 per share, of FerroAtlántica in exchange for
98,078,161 newly issued Class A Ordinary Shares of Ferroglobe, after which FerroAtlántica became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ferroglobe. Immediately
after, Gordon Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ferroglobe, merged with and into Globe, and each outstanding share of common stock, par
value $0.0001 per share, of Globe was converted into the right to receive one newly issued Ordinary Share of Ferroglobe. After these steps, Ferroglobe had
171,838,153 Company Ordinary Shares in issue, of which approximately 57% were owned by Grupo VM and the remainder by the former Globe
shareholders.
On 24 December 2015, the Ordinary Shares were listed for trading on the NASDAQ in U.S. dollars under the symbol “GSM”. Prior to completion of the
Business Combination, shares of Globe’s common stock were registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act. Globe’s common stock was
suspended from trading on the NASDAQ prior to the open of trading on 24 December 2015.
The Company is subject to disclosure obligations in the U.S. and the U.K. While some of these disclosure requirements overlap or are otherwise similar, some
differ and require distinct disclosures. Pursuant to the requirements of the Companies Act, this document includes our directors’ remuneration report, strategic
report, directors’ report and required financial information (including our statutory accounts and statutory auditor’s report for the reporting period
commencing 23 December 2015 and ending 31 December 2015), which together comprise our U.K. annual reports and accounts for the period ended
31 December 2015 (the “U.K. Annual Report”).
We are also subject to the information and reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, regulations and other guidance issued by the SEC and the NASDAQ
listing standards applicable to foreign private issuers. In accordance with the Exchange Act, we are required to file annual and periodic reports and other
information with the SEC, including, without limitation, our 2015 Form 20-F. Certain other announcements made by the Company are furnished to the SEC
on Form 6-K. Our status as a foreign private issuer requires the Company to comply with various corporate governance practices under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, as well as related rules subsequently implemented by the SEC. In addition, NASDAQ Rules permit foreign private issuers to follow home
country practice in lieu of the NASDAQ corporate governance standards, subject to certain exemptions and except to the extent that such exemptions would
be contrary to U.S. federal securities law. We have incorporated by reference in the U.K. Annual Report certain information required by the Companies Act
from the 2015 Form 20-F, which information is an important part of the U.K. Annual Report, and is deemed to be part hereof. Investors may obtain any of
these documents, without charge, from the SEC at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov or from our website at www.ferroglobe.com. Unless expressly stated
otherwise, the information on our website is not part of this U.K. Annual Report and is not incorporated by reference herein.
The capitalised terms used throughout the U.K. Annual Report are defined in the Glossary and Definitions section of this U.K. Annual Report unless
otherwise indicated. In the following text, the terms “we,” “our,” “our company” and “us” may refer, as the context requires, to Ferroglobe or collectively to
Ferroglobe and its subsidiaries.
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Ferroglobe PLC
Strategic report
For a description of our business (including our model, strategy and competitive strengths), risks associated with our business and our results of operations,
see the following sections of the 2015 Form 20-F: Part I, Item 3, Key Information, Item 4, Information on the Company, Item 5 Operating and Financial
Review and Prospects, and Item 11, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, which sections are herein incorporated by reference.
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
The Board is considering the most important KPIs for 2016. Those set out below will be at the core, although a review of relevant metrics – both financial,
operational, and other such as safety and environmental – is currently underway to determine if further short, medium, and long term performance metrics
should be added.
As Ferroglobe only began operating as a combined entity on 23 December 2015 on completion of the Business Combination, it is not possible to provide
KPI information for 2015.
At the corporate level, the principal KPIs that we use for measuring the overall performance of our business, which are also part of our compensation structure
for the key executives, are as follows:
•

EBITDA, adjusted in accordance with Company’s adjustments announced as part of its earnings reports. We also consider adjusted EBITDA
margin (measured as adjusted EBITDA/revenues) as a significant indicator of our performance.

•

Free cash-flow, which represents EBITDA plus or minus working capital changes, capex (other than required for safety or environmental matters),
taxes and net interest.

•

Working capital (measured as inventories, plus trade and other receivables, minus trade and other payables) improvement, especially in the short
term in order to achieve the announced working capital synergies.

Other KPIs are under analysis, with emphasis on including some measure of return on capital employed.
At the operating level we also use the following key metrics, which are linked to our ability to operate and sell efficiently, and which are taken into
consideration in the compensation structure for the executives in the different operating areas of the group:
•

Production costs and benchmarking against prior years.

•

Production rates (in tons per day) as a measure of overall technical performance of our facilities benchmarked against prior years.

•

Selling prices, comparison to indexes and gross margin on sales.

•

Total recordable incident rate, which is a measure of our safety performance.

In addition, in 2016 and 2017, a special emphasis is being placed on achieving the announced synergies in connection with the Business Combination and
on ensuring a successful integration of FerroAtlántica and Globe into a single well-functioning organisation.
Employees
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had:
•

nine directors, all of whom were male;

•

298 senior managers, of whom 242 were male and 56 were female; and

•

4,201 employees, of whom 3,786 were male and 415 were female.
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Ferroglobe PLC
Environment and other social matters
Ferroglobe is committed to conducting its business in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations in a manner that has the highest regard for the
environment and the health and safety, and well-being of employees and the general public.
The Strategic Report for the financial period ended 31 December 2015 has been reviewed and approved by the Board on 29 May 2016.

Stephen Lebowitz
Company Secretary
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Directors’ report
Directors
The directors of the Company, who held office from 23 December 2015 (save for Javier López Madrid, who held office from 5 February 2015) and up to
31 December 2015, were as follows:
Alan Kestenbaum

Director, Executive Chairman and Principal Executive Officer

Javier López Madrid

Director and Executive Vice-Chairman

Donald G. Barger, Jr.

Non-executive Director

Bruce L. Crockett

Non-executive Director

Stuart E. Eizenstat

Non-executive Director

Tomás García Madrid

Non-executive Director

Greger Hamilton

Non-executive Director

Javier Monzón

Non-executive Director

Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes

Non-executive Director

In addition, Miguel Guerrero Aulló and José Maria Calvo-Sotelo were directors of the Company from the date of incorporation of the Company on 5 February
2015 until 6 February 2015 and 23 December 2015, respectively, and Clara Cerdán Molina was a director of the Company from 6 February 2015 until
23 December 2015.
Directors’ indemnities
As permitted by the Company’s articles of association, each director is covered by appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and as required by
such articles, each director is indemnified in connection with his role as a director, to the extent permitted by law. Under his employment agreement with
Globe, dated 27 January 2011, as amended on 22 February 2015 (the “Amendment”) (together, the “Employment Agreement”), Mr. Kestenbaum has the
benefit of an indemnity in respect of all claims arising from or relating to his performance of his duties to the fullest extent permitted by law and/or Globe’s
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance or articles of association or other applicable document in respect to any and all actions, suits, proceedings, claims,
demands, judgments, losses, damages and reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including reasonable out-of-pocket attorney’s fees and expenses)
resulting from his good faith performance of his duties and obligations with Globe or any of its affiliates or as the fiduciary of any benefit plan of Globe or its
affiliates. In addition, Globe has agreed to cover Mr. Kestenbaum under its directors’ and officers’ liability insurance during the six-year period following his
termination of employment in the same amount and to the same extent that Globe covers its other officers and directors during such period. The provisions of
the indemnity were in force during the period under review.
Company details and branches outside the U.K.
The Company is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales with registered number 9425113. The Company’s registered
address is c/o Legalinx Ltd, One Fetter Lane, EC4A 1BR London, United Kingdom. The company has no overseas branches.
Share repurchases
The Company has not acquired any of its own shares since its incorporation on 5 February 2015.
Dividend
On 3 February 2016, the Board declared a quarterly dividend in the amount of $0.08 per Company Ordinary Share payable on 14 March 2016 to shareholders
of record at the close of business on 26 February 2016. The
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Dividend (continued)
Company has identified that it had insufficient distributable reserves to pay such dividend, the effect of which is that the dividend was not paid in
accordance with the Companies Act. A resolution has been proposed in the notice of Annual General Meeting to rectify the position following the
completion of the ongoing capital reduction process to create and make available to the Company distributable reserves (as envisaged prior to the
consummation of the Business Combination pursuant to the proxy statement/prospectus on Form F-4 filed with the SEC and declared effective on 11 August
2015).
The Company intends to maintain its policy of paying quarterly dividends. The declaration and payment of future dividends to shareholders and the amount
of any such dividends will be at the discretion of the Board.
Political donations
The Company has not made any political donations, or incurred any political expenditure in the period under review. In addition, the Company has not made
any contributions to a non-EU political party during the period under review.
Employee policies
Ferroglobe has a culture of continuous improvement through investment in people at all levels within Ferroglobe. Ferroglobe is committed to pursuing
equality and diversity in all its employment activities, including recruitment, training, career development and promotion and ensuring there is no bias or
discrimination in the treatment of people. Ferroglobe supports the principle of equal opportunities in employment and opposes all forms of unlawful or unfair
discrimination on the grounds of race, age, nationality, religion, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, gender or gender reassignment, marital status or
disability. Wherever possible, vacancies are filled from within Ferroglobe and efforts are made to create opportunities for internal promotion.
It is Ferroglobe’s policy to encourage applications for employment from disabled people and to assist with their training and development, particularly in
light of their aptitudes and abilities. If an existing employee becomes disabled, it is Ferroglobe’s policy wherever practicable to provide continuing
employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training, career development, and promotion to the disabled employee to the fullest extent
possible, unless such accommodation would cause the employer an undue hardship.
Greenhouse gas emissions
This Directors’ Report does not include information on emissions of carbon dioxide. Neither the legacy Globe business nor the legacy FerroAtlántica
business recorded such emissions information on a group wide basis, although certain local operations collected and reported information in compliance with
local, state, and federal environmental laws. Therefore, for the purposes of this Directors’ Report, being the first period the Company has operated as a
combined business, the cost of collecting the information and estimating emissions was not considered to be proportionate to the benefit. The Company will
provide its first year of emission information in its U.K. annual report for the year ending 31 December 2016.
Financial risk management objectives/policies and hedging arrangements
Please refer to Part I, Item 11 (Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk) of the 2015 Form 20-F, for information on Ferroglobe’s financial
risk management objectives/policies and hedging arrangements.
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Events since 31 December 2015
Dividend
On 3 February 2016, the Board approved a special dividend of $0.08 per share, which was paid on 14 March 2016 to shareholders of record at the close of
business on 26 February 2016.
Litigation
On 10 February 2016, in connection with the settlement of the shareholder suit bought on behalf of Globe’s former shareholders challenging the Business
Combination, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware held a hearing on the plaintiffs’ motion to approve the proposed settlement, including final
certification of the settlement class, and plaintiffs’ application for an award of attorneys’ fees and expenses. The Court approved the settlement, including
final certification of the settlement class, and awarded plaintiffs’ counsel $9,989,376.73 in attorneys’ fees and expenses. Following court approval of the
settlement, Globe paid $32.5 million into a settlement fund to be held for the benefit of the settlement class. With respect to the attorneys’ fee and expense
award, Globe’s insurers paid 85% of the award and Globe paid the remaining 15% of the award. Globe anticipates further discussions with the insurers toward
reaching a final agreement with the insurers on reimbursement for a portion of the settlement fund and a final allocation of the attorneys’ fee and expense
award.
Amendment to Grupo VM Shareholder Agreement
Ferroglobe entered into a shareholder agreement with Grupo VM on 23 December 2015 (the “Grupo VM Shareholder Agreement”). The Grupo VM
Shareholder Agreement restricted, amongst other matters, the ability of Grupo VM and its affiliates from acquiring any additional Company Ordinary Shares.
On 3 February 2016, during an in-person meeting of the Board, the Board approved the purchase of up to one per cent. of the Ordinary Shares by Javier López
Madrid in the open market pursuant to Section 5.01(b)(vi) of the Grupo VM Shareholder Agreement (“JLM Shares”). In connection with the foregoing,
Grupo VM and the Company, entered into Amendment No.1 to the Grupo VM Shareholder Agreement, dated as of 10 February 2016, which amended the
Grupo VM Shareholder Agreement to disregard the JLM Shares from determining the percentage of the total aggregate issued and outstanding Company
Ordinary Shares owned by Grupo VM and its affiliates. The Grupo VM Shareholder Agreement will terminate on the first date on which Grupo VM and its
affiliates hold less than 15% of the outstanding Company Ordinary Shares.
Please see Item 7, Part I Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions of the Company’s 2015 Form 20-F for further information on the Grupo VM
Shareholder Agreement.
Future developments
As part of its strategy to better serve customers, the Group develops new products or new specifications on a continuous basis. As a consequence of these
efforts, investments may be made in facilities that allow the production of new products, such as higher grade silicon metal, solar grade silicon metal or new
foundry products.
The Group is continuously pursuing growth opportunities by the acquisition of industrial facilities or companies that operate in the same sector and products,
and which are deemed to be potentially valuable for the Group. No decision or formal commitment has been entered into at the date of reporting, but at any
given point in time several alternatives are under analysis. It is likely that in the short to medium term at least one of such projects could materialise.
Research and development
Please refer to Part I, Item 4, Information on the Company of the 2015 Form 20-F, for information on Ferroglobe’s research and development.
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Going concern
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, as
discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, and have therefore prepared the Financial Statements on a going concern basis.
Statement of disclosure to the Company’s U.K. statutory auditor
In accordance with section 418 of the Companies Act, each director at the date of this Directors’ Report confirms that:
•

so far as he is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Auditor is unaware; and

•

he has taken all the steps he ought to have taken as director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act. Deloitte LLP has indicated its
willingness to continue in office, and a resolution that it be re-appointed will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.
By order of the Board on 29 May 2016,

Stephen Lebowitz
Company Secretary
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Directors’ responsibilities statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the annual reports and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial period. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires
that directors:
•

properly select and apply accounting policies;

•

present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;

•

provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of
particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

•

make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
To the best of each directors’ knowledge:
•

the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the Company;

•

this Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report include a fair review of the development or performance of the business and the position of the
Company and its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face;

•

the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole are fair balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company’s position, performance, businesss model and strategy; and

•

the responsibility statement was approved by the Board on 29 May 2016 and signed on its behalf by Donald Barger.

By order of the Board on 29 May 2016,

Donald Barger
Director
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Introduction
Dear Shareholder
As Chairman of the Compensation Committee, and on behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the period ended
31 December 2015.
This is our first Directors’ Remuneration Report and covers a short financial period of only nine days. The Company has become the parent company of
Globe and FerroAtlántica, as a result of the Business Combination. There has been a large amount of work undertaken to develop a directors’ remuneration
policy for the newly combined businesses (the “Directors’ Remuneration Policy”) to enable this report to be produced for the Annual General Meeting.
Under English law, we are required to seek approval from shareholders for the remuneration policy that will apply for directors. This resolution, alongside
resolutions for the approval of an equity incentive plan and the approval of the annual report on remuneration (the “Annual Report on Remuneration”) will
be presented for approval at the Annual General Meeting.
Legacy matters
The Company inherited certain legacy arrangements including the contractual terms of the Employment Agreement entered into by Globe with Mr.
Kestenbaum who was the executive chairman of Globe (and now Ferroglobe), as well as a number of rolled-over equity based awards to both former Globe
executives and non-executive directors. The Company is required to honour those contractual commitments and as part of this it is necessary to include them
in our forward looking policy and to seek shareholder approval for such forward looking policy. The granting of equity-based compensation to nonexecutive directors is not part of our policy going forwards. Fees will be entirely in cash and, to provide alignment with shareholders, non-executive directors
have voluntarily agreed to build and retain a shareholding worth twice their annual fees.
One of the challenges for the Compensation Committee has been to develop a remuneration policy for the new Group taking into account the historic
remuneration practices of two different entities that now form part of a larger group. FerroAtlántica was a private family-owned European head-quartered
business and Globe a U.S. publicly listed company. Ferroglobe is legally required to report remuneration for its directors for only the nine days since the
Business Combination. However, the Compensation Committee has agreed, in order to provide shareholders with a more complete picture of historic
remuneration arrangements, to include in this Directors’ Remuneration Report some of the remuneration disclosures that Globe has previously made.
Mr. Kestenbaum’s contractual annual bonus covers the 12 month period to 30 June 2016 (with separate provisions broadly covering the pre-and postBusiness Combination periods) based on Globe’s financial performance as well as on strategic goals in relation to the Business Combination as detailed in
the Annual Report on Remuneration. One of the tasks remaining for the Compensation Committee is to determine Mr. Kestenbaum’s annual bonus
arrangements for the second six month period of the current financial year 2016, for which there are currently no agreed terms. These will be established
under the Company’s policy in accordance with his existing contractual arrangements, which contain specific provisions requiring account to be taken of
incentive awards made to other senior executives. This will be relevant in determining his annual bonus entitlement for that second half year period as well as
for the first half of 2016, as explained in the Annual Report on Remuneration. The terms agreed will be fully disclosed in next year’s remuneration report.
Looking forward
Our remuneration philosophy and the Directors’ Remuneration Policy described in this Directors’ Remuneration Report for our Executive Directors have
been developed and are applicable to all of our most senior executives, initially covering about ten roles (except for Mr. Kestenbaum and two other senior
executives who remain under current Globe contractual arrangements). This ensures a coherent approach to this group of executives and aligns their business
focus, pay and opportunity with the forward-looking policy for the Executive Directors.
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Looking forward (continued)
The Directors’ Remuneration Policy provides base salaries at market norms with variable pay opportunities that will reward our executives for achieving
demanding corporate performance targets. The Compensation Committee has concluded, given the challenges of integrating the two businesses, that for
2016, variable pay should give greater weighting to the short-term than long-term than will apply in future years. This is to ensure sufficient focus on the
shorter term priorities of integrating the businesses, achieving working capital savings, maximising free cash flow and achieving cost synergies as soon as
possible.
With respect to Mr. Kestenbaum, appropriate discussions will be held prior to expiration of his Employment Agreement on 31 December 2016. The Company
hopes to reach an agreement with him that would result in him entering into a service contract that is substantially on the terms of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy applicable to other Executive Directors.
The Compensation Committee recognises the importance of aligning our executives’ interests with those of our investors. Not only are executives required
under the new Directors’ Remuneration Policy to defer part of their annual bonus into shares for three years but the Compensation Committee has also
introduced share ownership guidelines for the Executive Directors of two times their base salary.
Moving the corporate head office to London has involved the relocation of executives. The general policy is that an allowance is to be paid to those
executives who relocate equal to 20% of salary which may be paid at up to twice this amount for the first three years. This avoids the need for the Company
to incur significant property purchase tax payments or other one off costs that could easily exceed one times annual salary if grossed up for income tax. The
Compensation Committee will review annually the level of the allowance to be paid.
The Compensation Committee has worked extremely hard to be able to bring to you the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and other information contained in
this Directors’ Remuneration Report. We still have work to do in the forthcoming months in finalising some of the outstanding matters referred to in this
Directors’ Remuneration Report and will report back to you regarding these in next year’s report as well as during investor consultation during the year if this
is considered appropriate. In the meantime I hope I can rely on your support at our Annual General Meeting.
Signed on behalf of the Board.

Javier Monzón
Chairman of the Compensation Committee
29 May 2016
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Remuneration Policy
Objectives
The Directors’ Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act and The Large and Medium-sized
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the “Regulations”). It is intended that the Directors’ Remuneration Policy,
set out in this Directors’ Remuneration Report, if approved, will, for the purposes of section 226D(6)(b) of the Companies Act, take effect on 29 June 2016.
The Directors’ Remuneration Policy as set out in this report will apply to the Company with effect from 1 January 2016.
The overall aim of our remuneration strategy is to provide appropriate incentives that reflect the Company’s high performance culture and values to
maximise returns for our shareholders. In summary, we aim to:
•

attract, retain and motivate high calibre, high performing employees;

•

encourage strong performance and engagement, both in the short and the long term, to enable the Company to achieve its strategic objectives;

•

structure the total remuneration package so that a very significant proportion is linked to performance conditions measured over both the short
term and longer term;

•

set fixed pay levels at or around market norms to allow for a greater proportion of total remuneration opportunity to be in variable pay; and

•

create strong alignment between the interests of shareholders and executives through both the use of equity in variable incentive plans and the
setting of shareholding guidelines for directors.

There are no material differences in the forward looking Directors’ Remuneration Policy for our Executive Directors compared to our senior management
other than in terms of quantum and levels of participation in incentive plans reflecting the higher weighting to variable pay and ability to influence
performance outcomes. The foregoing does not apply to legacy arrangements that currently apply to Mr. Kestenbaum and two members of senior
management of Globe. For our wider employee population the Company aims to provide remuneration structures and levels that reflect market norms.
Legacy Arrangements
The Company has become the parent company of Globe and FerroAtlántica, as a result of the Business Combination. Accordingly, a number of contractual
commitments, including those entered into by Globe with Mr. Kestenbaum who was the executive chairman of Globe (and now Ferroglobe), remain in force.
These are described in this Directors’ Remuneration Report. It is a provision of this Directors’ Remuneration Policy that the Company will: (a) honour legacy
arrangements with Mr. Kestenbaum, including the implementation of incentive awards to ensure compliance with the contractual terms and (b) honour
outstanding legacy share awards made to directors of the Company who were previously non-executive directors of Globe as set out in the Annual Report on
Remuneration.
With respect to Mr. Kestenbaum, appropriate discussions will be held prior to expiration of his Employment Agreement on 31 December 2016. The Company
hopes to reach an agreement with him that would result in him entering into a service contract that is substantially on the terms of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy applicable to Executive Directors, as described below.
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Components of remuneration for Executive Directors
Purpose and link
to strategy

Operation and maximum
opportunity

Performance framework and
recovery

Salary

A fixed salary commensurate with the
individual’s role, responsibilities and
experience, having regard to broader
market rates.

Reviewed annually, taking account of Group
performance, individual performance, changes
in responsibility and levels of increase for the
broader employee population and market salary
levels.

Not applicable.

Pension and retirement
benefits

Attraction and retention of top talent;
providing mechanism for the
accumulation of retirement benefits.

Executive Directors may be paid a cash
allowance in lieu of pension.

Not applicable.

Element

The maximum cash allowance is 20% of base
salary. This includes contributions to the U.S.
tax-qualified defined contribution 401(k) plan.
Benefits

Attraction and retention of top talent.

Benefits may include but are not limited to
medical cover, life assurance and income
protection insurance.
Relocation allowances may take into account a
housing allowance, school fees, adviser fees for
assistance with tax affairs and an expatriate
allowance to cover additional expenditure
incurred as a result of the relocation. Payment of
such relocation allowances will be reviewed by
the Compensation Committee on an annual
basis.
Benefits will be provided as the Compensation
Committee deems necessary including to take
into account of perquisites or benefits received
from a prior employer or as is customary in the
country in which an executive resides or is
relocated from.
Benefits provided by the Company are subject
to market rates and therefore there is no
prescribed monetary maximum. The Company
and the Compensation Committee will keep the
cost of the benefits under review.
13
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Components of remuneration for Executive Directors (continued)
Element

Purpose and link
to strategy

Operation and maximum
opportunity

Performance framework and
recovery

The Company provides all Executive Directors
with directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
and will provide an indemnity to the fullest
extent permitted by the Companies Act.
Annual
bonus

Short-term performance-based
incentive to reward achievement of
annual performance objectives.

The Compensation Committee will determine an
Executive Director’s actual bonus amount,
subject to the achievement of quantitative and
qualitative performance criteria.

The Compensation Committee will
select the most appropriate
performance measures for the annual
bonus for each performance period and
will set appropriately demanding
At least two-thirds of the bonus will be based on targets.
financial metrics with the balance based on nonfinancial metrics.
Normally any bonus earned in excess
of the target amount will be deferred
for three years into shares in the
The maximum bonus opportunity that may be
Company. The Executive Director may
awarded to an Executive Director is normally
be granted an additional long-term
200% of salary. However in 2016 it may be
higher than this if the Compensation Committee incentive award as described below of
equal value (at maximum) to the
determines that more focus should be given to
amount of annual bonus deferred.
shorter term measures for business integration
reasons with a broadly equivalent reduction in
long-term incentive. If the Compensation
Recovery and recoupment will apply
Committee provides higher annual bonus
to all bonus awards for misstatement,
opportunities in any year its rationale will be
error or gross misconduct.
clearly explained in the Annual Report on
Remuneration for the relevant year. In these and
other exceptional circumstances the limit will be
500% of salary.
No more than 25% of the maximum bonus
payable for each performance condition will be
payable for threshold performance.
14

Table of Contents

Components of remuneration for Executive Directors (continued)
Element

Long-term
incentive
awards

Purpose and link
to strategy

Operation and maximum
opportunity

Performance framework and
recovery

Focus Executive Directors’ efforts on
sustainable strong long-term
performance of the company as a
whole, and to aid retention with multiyear vesting provision. Improves
alignment of Executive Directors’
interests with those of the Company
and shareholders.

Executive Directors are eligible for awards to be
granted as decided by the Compensation
Committee under the Company’s long-term
incentive plan. Awards would normally vest
three years after the date of grant. The
Committee may determine whether or not
awards are subject to achievement of
performance targets measured over a three year
period. Awards where the vesting is subject to
achievement of performance targets will form at
least two-thirds of the total long-term incentive
awards granted to an Executive Directors in any
financial year.

The Compensation Committee will
select the most appropriate
performance measures for long-term
incentive awards for each performance
period and will set appropriately
demanding targets.
Recovery and recoupment will apply
to all long-term incentive awards for
misstatement, error or gross
misconduct.

The annual target award limit will not normally
be higher than 300% of salary (based on the face
value of shares at date of grant).
Maximum vesting is normally 200% of target
(based on the face value of shares at date of
grant).
There is an exceptional annual target award
limit in recruitment, appointment and retention
situations of 500% of salary.
Share
ownership
guidelines

Increases alignment between the
Executive Directors and shareholders.

Executive Directors, including the Executive
Not applicable.
Chairman, are recommended to hold a
percentage of their salary in shares. This holding
guideline could be achieved through the
retention of shares on vesting/exercise of share
awards and may also (but is not required) be
through the direct purchase of shares by the
Executive Directors.

Performance Criteria and Discretions
Selection of Criteria
The Compensation Committee annually assesses at the beginning of the relevant performance period which corporate performance measures, or combination
and weighting of performance measures, are most appropriate
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Selection of Criteria (continued)
for both annual bonus and long-term incentive awards to reflect the Company’s strategic initiatives for the performance period. The Compensation
Committee has the discretion to change the performance measures for awards granted in future years based upon the strategic plans of the Company. The
Compensation Committee sets demanding targets for variable pay in the context of the Company’s trading environment and strategic objectives and taking
into account the Company’s internal financial planning, and market forecasts. Any non-financial goals will be well defined and measurable.
Discretions retained by the Compensation Committee in operating its incentive plans
The Compensation Committee operates the Group’s various plans according to their respective rules. In administering these plans, the Compensation
Committee may apply certain operational discretions. These include the following:
•

determine the extent of vesting based on the assessment of performance;

•

determine “good leaver” status (as described below) and where relevant extent of vesting;

•

where relevant determine the extent of vesting in the case of share-based plans in the event of a change of control in accordance with the rules of
the various plans; and

•

make the appropriate adjustments required in certain circumstances (e.g. rights issues, corporate restructuring events, variation of capital and
special dividends).

The Compensation Committee, acting fairly and reasonably, and after consulting plan participants, may adjust the targets and/or set different measures and
alter weightings for the variable pay awards already granted (in a way that the alterations are intended to create an equivalent outcome for plan participants)
only if an unexpected event (corporate or outside event) occurs which causes the Compensation Committee to reasonably consider that the performance
conditions would not without alteration achieve their original purpose and the varied conditions are materially no more or less difficult to satisfy than the
original conditions. Any changes and the rationale for those changes will be set out clearly in the Annual Report on Remuneration in respect of the year in
which they are made.
Remuneration scenarios for Executive Directors
The charts below show the level of remuneration potentially payable to Executive Directors under different performance scenarios for the 2016 financial
year:
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Assumptions – Executive Chairman
The chart assumes that the Executive Chairman’s remuneration components for the 2016 financial year will be same as that for Globe’s financial year ended
30 June 2015, as disclosed on Globe’s Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC on 13 October 2015.
Fixed pay comprises base salary plus the value of benefits.
On-target performance comprises fixed pay plus target annual performance-based bonus of 50% of maximum as there is no actual target amount.
Maximum performance comprises fixed pay plus maximum annual performance-based bonus.
As no decision has yet been taken regarding the award of long-term incentive awards to the Executive Chairman for the financial year 2016 his total reward
illustration does not reflect any such awards.

Assumptions – Executive Vice-Chairman
Fixed pay comprises base salary for 2016, benefits at an estimated level of 4% of salary, a normal level of expatriate allowance of 20% of base salary with an
exceptional additional expatriate allowance of 20% of salary (for up to three years because of the particular circumstances of the relocation of the Ferroglobe
business to London) and pension contribution of 20% of salary in accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy.
On-target performance comprises fixed pay plus annual bonus of 215% of salary and long-term incentives of 115% of salary.
Maximum performance comprises fixed pay plus annual bonus of 200% of target and long-term incentives of 200% of target.
Approach to Recruitment Remuneration
The Compensation Committee expects any new executive directors to be engaged on terms that are consistent with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy
(excluding the legacy arrangements) as set out in the policy table above.
The Compensation Committee recognises that it cannot always predict accurately the circumstances in which any new directors may be recruited. The
Compensation Committee may determine that it is in the interests of the Company and shareholders to secure the services of a particular individual which
may require the Compensation
17

Table of Contents

Approach to Recruitment Remuneration (continued)
Committee to take account of the terms of that individual’s existing employment and/or their personal circumstances. Examples of circumstances in which
the Compensation Committee expects it might need to do this are:
•

where an existing employee is promoted to the board, in which case the Company will honour all existing contractual commitments including
any outstanding annual bonus or long-term incentive awards or pension entitlements and will provide other benefits consistent with those
provided to senior leaders in that employee’s home country;

•

where an individual is relocating in order to take up the role, in which case the Company may provide certain one-off benefits in addition to
benefits set out in the policy table such as reasonable relocation expenses, assistance with visa applications or other immigration issues and
ongoing arrangements such as annual flights home and cost of education; and

•

where an individual would be forfeiting fixed or valuable variable remuneration in order to join the Company, in which case the Committee may
award appropriate additional compensation in addition to the limit set out in the policy table. The Committee would look to replicate the
arrangements being forfeited as closely as possibly taking into account the nature of the remuneration, performance conditions, attributed
expected value and the time over which any variable pay would have vested or been paid.

In making any decision on any aspect of the remuneration package for a new recruit, the Compensation Committee would balance shareholder expectations,
current best practice and the requirements of any new recruit and would strive not to pay more than is necessary to achieve the recruitment. The
Compensation Committee would give full details of the terms of the package of any new recruit in the next remuneration report. Award levels under the
Company’s variable incentive plans would not exceed those set out in the policy table, but their proportions can be altered for the first three years of
employment.
Executive Directors’ Service Contracts and Policy on Cessation
In order to motivate and retain the Executive Directors and other senior executives, most of whose backgrounds are in the United States and Spain, the
Compensation Committee took account of market practices in those countries in (a) determining the treatment of annual bonus and long-term incentive
awards in case of termination of their employment by the Company without cause, (b) referencing past annual bonuses in calculating the amount of payment
in lieu of notice, (c) determining the extent of vesting of long-term incentive awards in the event of a takeover and (d) determining that at least two-thirds of
the total long-term incentive awards granted to an executive in any financial year will be subject to achievement of performance targets.
Legacy service contract for the Executive Chairman
Mr. Kestenbaum became a director and the Executive Chairman of the Company on the Business Combination, and continues to be engaged under an
employment agreement with Globe, dated 27 January 2011, as amended on 22 February 2015 (the “Amendment”) (together, the “Employment Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Amendment, the Employment Agreement is scheduled to expire on 31 December 2016, and such expiry will be considered a termination of
employment without cause (with the consequences described below).
Under the Employment Agreement, Mr. Kestenbaum performs his duties on a non-full time basis, but is expected to devote at least 70% of his full working
time to the Company.
If his employment is terminated by reason of his death or disability, Mr. Kestenbaum would be entitled to payment of all accrued but unpaid base salary,
vested and unvested incentive awards, pro-rata payment of incentive awards for the then current plan year, and full vesting of 108,578 restricted shares
granted on 27 January 2011, that are otherwise scheduled to vest on 27 January 2021. If his employment is terminated
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Legacy service contract for the Executive Chairman (continued)
without cause or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Kestenbaum would be entitled to receive the foregoing items plus a lump sum severance payment
comprised of two times of his base pay, the value of his incentive awards granted or vested during the previous two calendar years, and the pre-tax cost of two
years’ COBRA coverage for himself and his family under Globe’s health plans.
If Mr. Kestenbaum’s employment is terminated before the second anniversary of the Business Combination (being 23 December 2017) without cause, or he
resigns for good reason, or his employment is terminated for reasons other than disability or death, then he would be entitled to the same payments as upon
termination without cause or for resignation for good reason (as set out in the paragraph above), except that the lump sum severance payment will be an
amount equal to $1 less than three times his Average Annual Compensation as defined in the Employment Agreement (in summary, the sum of his average
base pay and his average incentive awards granted or vested for the past five years ending on the termination date).
If Mr. Kestenbaum resigns without good reason or if he is terminated for cause, then he would be entitled to any accrued but unpaid base pay and the vested
portion of incentive awards. He will also forfeit his 108,578 restricted shares that are scheduled to vest in January 2021.
If the payments to Mr. Kestenbaum upon termination of his employment would be subject to the excise tax under Section 4999 of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code (the “Code”), a nationally recognised certified public accounting firm selected by Globe will determine whether to reduce the payments so that the
value will not exceed the safe harbour amount specified in Section 280G(b)(3) of the Code. The payments will be reduced if the external accounting firm
determines that Mr. Kestenbaum would receive a greater net-after tax amount if the aggregate payments were so reduced.
The Employment Agreement provides for non-compete and non-solicit restrictions for two years following a termination of employment under most
circumstances. If Mr. Kestenbaum’s employment is terminated without cause or if he resigns for good reason, he would not be bound by such restrictions. The
restrictions will be applicable if the Employment Agreement expires on 31 December 2016.
The Employment Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of New York.
Under the Employment Agreement, “good reason” generally means: (a) a material reduction of compensation, base pay, bonus plan award, other bonuses or
benefits, (b) the assignment of duties substantially inconsistent with his responsibilities as then in effect, or his authorities, duties, or responsibilities are
diminished in any material respect, including as a result of (x) his failure to be elected or appointed as a member of Company’s board of directors or (y) the
Company ceasing to be a reporting company pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, (c) Globe, without Mr. Kestenbaum’s consent, relocating its
principal executive offices or his place of employment to an area other than New York, New York, (d) a requirement that Mr. Kestenbaum report to a person or
entity other than Globe’s board of directors or (e) a material breach by Globe of the terms of the Mr. Kestenbaum’s Employment Agreement. “Cause”
generally means conviction of a crime causing material harm to Globe or any crime involving material fraud or embezzlement with respect to Globe’s
property, or a breach of his Employment Agreement, including any restrictive covenants set forth therein, that causes material harm to Globe (after receiving
written notice of a breach Mr. Kestenbaum has thirty days to correct the breach).
Mr. Kestenbaum’s current base salary is $995,000 per annum which has remained unchanged for the past five years. Mr. Kestenbaum is entitled to pension
and benefits entitlements materially commensurate with the previous years. For Globe’s fiscal year ending 30 June, 2015, Mr. Kestenbaum’s benefits value
was $174,919 and included services of a tax advisor, services of a driver, Globe’s 401(k) contributions, automobile lease expenses, and parking fees. In
addition, if another senior executive receives incentive awards having terms materially more favourable than those granted to Mr. Kestenbaum, then his
incentive awards will be modified or he will receive additional awards to make them substantially as favourable.
Legacy arrangements with Mr. Kestenbaum also include an annual performance-based bonus award and equity grants. These are described in pages 26 and
27.
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Legacy service contract for the Executive Chairman (continued)
It is a provision of this Directors’ Remuneration Policy that the Company will: (a) honour legacy arrangements with Mr. Kestenbaum, including the
implementation of incentive awards to ensure compliance with the contractual terms and (b) honour outstanding legacy share awards made to him by Globe
as set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration.
With respect to Mr. Kestenbaum, appropriate discussions will be held prior to expiration of the Employment Agreement on 31 December 2016. The Company
hopes to reach an agreement with him that would result in him entering into a service contract that is substantially on to the terms of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy applicable to Executive Directors, as described in this Remuneration Policy.
Service contracts
It is the Company’s policy (with the exception of the legacy arrangements of Mr. Kestenbaum see above and subject to the Approach to Recruitment
Remuneration above) that all Executive Directors have rolling service contracts for an indefinite term but a fixed period of notice of termination which would
normally be 12 months. With respect to newly appointed directors, the Committee may, if it considers it necessary, agree a notice period in excess of 12
months (but not exceeding 24 months), provided it reduces to 12 months within a specified transition period of not exceeding 36 months. The service
contract for the executive vice-chairman, Mr. López Madrid, will be in accordance with this policy.
It is the Company’s policy that an Executive Director’s service contract (with the exception of the legacy arrangements of Mr. Kestenbaum see above) may be
terminated without notice and without further payment or compensation, except for sums accrued to the date of termination, for cause (as defined in the
service contract). In other circumstances, the Company may terminate employment with immediate effect and make a payment in lieu of notice in the amount
equivalent to the aggregate of (i) base salary, (ii) the average of annual bonuses in the last three years prior to termination, (iii) pension allowance plus
(iv) cost of benefits, for the notice period (or if a notice has been served, for the unserved notice period). An Executive Director would be entitled to an
equivalent payment in the event of his resignation for good reason (as defined in the service contract). Normally there would be no additional contractual
entitlement in respect of a change-in-control. An Executive Director may also be entitled to certain amounts with respect to annual bonus and long-term
incentive awards, as described below. “Cause” and “good reason” as defined in the service contract also apply in relation to annual bonus awards and longterm incentive awards as described below.
Executive Directors’ service contracts (or a memorandum of the terms where the contract is unwritten) are available for inspection at the Group’s registered
office at c/o Legalinx Limited 1 Fetter Lane, London EC4A 1BR during normal business hours and at the Annual General Meeting.
Generally
As circumstances may require, the Compensation Committee may approve compensation payments in consideration of statutory entitlements, for a release of
claims, enhanced post-termination restrictive covenants or transitional assistance, such as outplacement services and payment of legal fees in connection
with termination, home relocation expenses including tax related expenses and other ancillary payments thereto.
Annual bonus awards
In the event that an Executive Director’s employment is terminated without cause, by resignation by the Executive Director for good reason, or by reason of
death, injury, disability, his employing company or the business for which he works being sold out of the Group, the Company will pay an annual bonus
amount in respect of the financial year in which termination occurs subject to performance conditions being met at the end of the period and with pro-rating
of the award determined on the basis of the period of time served in employment during the normal vesting period but with the Compensation Committee
retaining the discretion in
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Legacy service contract for the Executive Chairman (continued)
Annual bonus awards (continued)
exceptional circumstances to increase the level of vesting within the maximum annual bonus amount as determined by the performance conditions. The
Compensation Committee may, if it considers it appropriate in exceptional circumstances, measure performance to the date of cessation. In other
circumstances, payment will be at the Compensation Committee’s discretion. The Compensation Committee will consider the period of the year worked and
the performance of the executive during that period when considering how to exercise its discretion.
Long-term incentive awards
As a general rule, any unvested long-term incentive award (except deferred bonus awards see below) will lapse upon an Executive Director ceasing to be an
employee or director in the case of voluntary resignation or dismissal for cause. However, if the cessation is without cause, by resignation by the Executive
Director for good reason, or because of his death, injury, disability, his employing company or the business for which he works being sold out of the Group or
in other circumstances at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, then their award will vest in full on the date when it would have ordinarily vested
subject to the performance conditions being met. Where an award vests at the discretion of the Compensation Committee that award may be pro-rated taking
into account the period of time served in employment during the normal vesting period of the award. The Compensation Committee can for any cessation
measure performance up to the date of cessation and permit awards to vest early.
Deferred bonus awards vest in full upon cessation, other than in case of voluntary resignation by an Executive Director without good reason or dismissal for
cause. Vested but unexercised awards held on cessation will remain capable of exercise for a limited period save in the case of dismissal for cause.
In the event of a takeover all awards will vest early to the extent that the performance conditions are determined as satisfied at that time on such basis as the
Compensation Committee considers appropriate.
External appointments
Executive Directors may retain fees paid for external director appointments. These appointments are subject to approval by the Board and must be
compatible with their duties as Executive Directors.
Matters taken into consideration in determining policy and differences in the remuneration policy of the Executive Directors and employees
It is not the Compensation Committee’s practice to consult with employees on matters relating to executive pay. However, the Compensation Committee will
consider pay structures, practices and principles across the Group on a regular basis and take these into account in any review of the Executive Directors’
current policy or implementation thereof.
The Compensation Committee will consider feedback from shareholders and take into account the results of both advisory and binding votes concerning
executive pay at the Annual General Meeting as well as ensuring it engages with shareholders on executive pay matters. The Company has taken account of
its understanding of the guidelines of shareholders in formulating its Directors’ Remuneration Policy.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors
Element

Purpose and link
to strategy

Non-Executive
To appropriately remunerate the NonDirectors fees including Executive Directors
non-executive chairman

Operation and maximum
opportunity

Performance framework
and recovery

The Non-Executive Directors are paid a basic
Not applicable
fee. Supplemental fees may be paid for
additional responsibilities and activities, such as
for the committee chairmen and other members
of the main Board committees (e.g. audit,
remuneration, and nominations and governance)
and the Senior Independent Director, to reflect
the additional responsibilities as well as travel
fees to reflect additional time incurred in
travelling to meetings.
These fee levels are reviewed periodically, with
reference to time commitment, knowledge,
experience and responsibilities of the role as
well as market levels in comparable companies
both in terms of size and sector.
The Company does not currently have a nonexecutive Chairman. If one were appointed his
fee would be set at a level with reference to time
commitment, knowledge, experience and
responsibilities of the role as well as market
levels in comparable companies both in terms of
size and sector.
There is no maximum fee level or prescribed
annual increase.

Payment of
expenses and
benefits

To support the Non-Executive
Directors in the fulfilment of their
duties

Reasonable expenses incurred by the NonExecutive Directors in carrying out their duties
may be reimbursed by the Company including
any personal tax payable by the Non-Executive
Directive as a result of reimbursement of those
expenses. The Company may also pay an
allowance in lieu of expenses if it deems this
appropriate.
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Element

Purpose and link
to strategy

Operation and maximum
opportunity

Performance framework
and recovery

The Company provides Non-Executive
Directors with directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance and an indemnity to the fullest extent
permitted by the Companies Act.
Legacy Arrangements with Certain Non-Executive Directors
Prior to the Business Combination, in keeping with many other NASDAQ listed companies, Globe granted restricted stock units and share appreciation rights
to its non-executive directors. Outstanding awards as at 31 December 2015 held by the Non-Executive Directors, who were previously Globe’s non-executive
directors, are set forth on page 31.
It is noted that those Non-Executive Directors with restricted stock units and share appreciation rights may be regarded as not being independent by U.K.
based proxy voting agencies although the Board considers them to be fully independent. It is a provision of this Directors’ Remuneration Policy that the
Company may accelerate the vesting of or repurchase of these awards based on an independent valuation, if it deems it to be appropriate.
Letters of Appointment with Non-Executive Directors
The Company does not enter into service contracts with its Non-Executive Directors, rather the Company enters into letters of appointment for a rolling
period of 12 months with each annual renewal being subject to re-election at each annual general meeting of the Company. No compensation for loss of
office is payable in the event a Non-Executive Director is not re-elected. The Company may request that the non-executive directors resign with immediate
effect in certain circumstances (including material breach of their obligations) in which case their appointment would terminate without compensation to the
Non-Executive Director for such termination but with accrued fees and expenses payable up to the date of termination.
Appointment of non-executive directors
For the appointment of a non-executive chairman or other Non-Executive Directors, the fee arrangement would be in accordance with the approved Directors’
Remuneration Policy in place at that time.
Minor amendments
The Committee may make minor changes to the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, which do not have a material advantage or disadvantage overall to directors,
to aid in its operation or implementation (including to take account of any change in legislative or regulatory requirements applicable to the Company)
without seeking shareholder approval for a revised version of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy.
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Annual Report on Remuneration
Implementation of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the year ending 31 December 2016
This section sets out how the Compensation Committee intends to implement the Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the year ending 31 December 2016.
However, in the case of the Executive Chairman, the Company will honour the arrangements described in the “Legacy Arrangements for the Executive
Chairman” on pages 26 and 27 and “Legacy service contract for the Executive Chairman” on pages 18 to 21 for the year unless alternative arrangements are
agreed with him.
Base salary
The Executive Vice-Chairman’s salary of £555,000 (€768,852) will take effect from the start of the financial year on 1 January 2016. No increase in salary is
expected to take place during the remainder of 2016. The Executive Vice-Chairman’s salary is expected to be reviewed, but not necessarily increased, by the
Compensation Committee in late 2016 with any increase effective from 1 January 2017.
Pension and benefits
In accordance with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, the Executive Vice-Chairman will receive a pension contribution at the rate of 20% of base salary,
payable as a cash allowance, benefits to the value of an estimate of 4% of salary and an expatriate benefits allowance. This expatriate benefits allowance will
usually be equal to 20% of base salary. However the Executive Vice-Chairman will be entitled to an exceptional additional expatriate allowance of a further
20% of salary (in line with market practice, for up to 3 years because of the particular circumstances of the relocation of the Ferroglobe business in this period
of transition). This expatriate allowance will be reviewed by the Compensation Committee on an annual basis.
The Company provides directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and will provide an indemnity to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Act.
Annual bonus
The target annual bonus opportunity for the Executive Vice-Chairman will normally be 100% of base salary with a maximum opportunity of twice the target
level. Reflecting the special nature of the challenges of integrating two businesses, achieving working capital savings, maximising free cashflow and
achieving cost synergies as soon as possible, the Compensation Committee has decided to rebalance for 2016 incentives by moving half of the long term
incentive awards of 115% of salary to the annual bonus plan. The target annual bonus will therefore be 215% of salary for 2016. The Compensation
Committee understands the importance of aligning its executives to the long-term performance of the Company and will seek to align its executives to
normal annual bonus award levels in 2017. However in this period of transition it is considered critical for 2016 that the executives are appropriately focused
on the goals that need to be achieved during the course of 2016 and which will set the foundations for sustained longer-term growth of the combined
businesses.
The annual bonus will be based on a mixture of normal business financial and strategic priority targets. 70% of the total bonus will be based on achieving
EBITDA, EBITDA margin and free cash flow targets, with the remainder based on strategic priority goals focused on the integration process and synergies of
the business following the Business Combination (including working capital management). The annual bonus targets are considered to be commercially
sensitive at this time and are not disclosed. It is the Compensation Committee’s intention to disclose the threshold, target and stretch figures for each of these
measures in next year’s report. Any bonus earned in excess of 100% of the target will be deferred for three years into shares in the Company.
To further align executive directorial shareholders’ interests over the long term, and to link the annual bonus with the level of grant of long term incentives,
the Executive Vice-Chairman is expected to be awarded an additional
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Annual bonus (continued)
long-term incentive award in 2017 with a maximum value equal to the amount of annual bonus deferred. This award will be subject to the performance
targets and vesting schedule described under the heading Long-term incentives below.
Long-term incentives
For 2016, as described above in relation to the challenges of successfully combining the two businesses, the Executive Vice-Chairman will be granted a
reduced long-term incentive award with a target level of vesting of 115% of base salary and maximum vesting of twice target.
Vesting of a minimum of 50% of the awards will be determined by Ferroglobe’s Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) performance relative to a group of peer
companies and market indices, to be determined by the Compensation Committee at the time awards are made. As the Committee has yet to finalise the
proportion of the award that will be based on TSR, the proportion will be disclosed when the award is granted and also disclosed in next year’s report along
with details of the peer group/market indices. Performance will be measured over three years with vesting as set out below.
TSR Performance
Less than median (50 th percentile)
Between the 50 th and 75 th percentile
Between 75 th percentile and 90 th percentile
90 th percentile

Vesting scale
No vesting of awards
Proportionate vesting of between target (100%) and 150% of target
Proportionate vesting of between 150% and 200% of target
200% of target

Vesting of up to 50% of the award will be dependent upon the achievement of strategic measures and/or “quality of performance assessments” with
predetermined targets to be achieved creating a range between threshold, target and stretch that will determine the proportion of the award that will vest
between 50% and 200% of the target amount. Due to the commercial sensitivity of the targets, they will not be disclosed during the three year performance
period and until they cease to be commercially sensitive. The measures that will be chosen will all be measurable and objective.
The Compensation Committee will additionally carry out a “quality of performance assessment” to assess the relative performance of the Company on
various measureable financial and operational bases at the end of the three year performance period. As a result of this assessment the Compensation
Committee may flex up or down the vesting level determined by both the TSR and strategic performance measures. The Compensation Committee will fully
explain, in the remuneration report for the year when performance is determined, the basis on which this performance assessment has been taken into account
in determining the final vesting of the long-term incentive awards.
Share ownership guidelines
The Compensation Committee has recommended a minimum level of share ownership which it wishes Executive Directors to build over time and hold of
200% of their base salary. To achieve this, Executive Directors are expected to retain a proportion of the shares that vest (having sold sufficient shares to meet
any taxation obligations) under the Company’s share based incentive plans until the share ownership guideline is met or to acquire shares in the market. The
current levels of holdings are set out on page 30.
The Non-Executive Directors have voluntarily agreed to apply at least a quarter of their annual gross fees (other than travel fees and the additional fees
payable for 2016) to acquire the Ordinary Shares. They (or their close family members) will then retain the Ordinary Shares worth a minimum of twice these
gross fees (based on their acquisition cost).
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Legacy Arrangements for the Executive Chairman
Mr. Kestenbaum became a director and the Executive Chairman of the Company on the Business Combination, and continues to be engaged under his
Employment Agreement. Details of the Employment Agreement are set forth on pages 18 to 21.
Salary, benefits and pension
Under the legacy arrangements with Globe entered into prior to the Business Combination, Mr. Kestenbaum’s annual base salary is $995,000.
Mr. Kestenbaum is entitled to pension and benefits entitlements materially commensurate with the previous years. For Globe’s fiscal year ending 30 June
2015, Mr. Kestenbaum’s benefits value of $174,919 in total included services of a tax advisor, services of a driver, Globe’s 401(k) contributions, automobile
lease expenses, and parking fees.
Annual Bonus
Prior to the Business Combination, Mr. Kestenbaum was granted an annual performance-based bonus award by Globe in respect of its financial year
commencing on 1 July 2015 and ending on 30 June 2016 (the “Globe Bonus”). Details of the Globe Bonus are described in the next paragraph. The
Compensation Committee will consider appropriate future bonus arrangements for Mr. Kestenbaum for the period commencing on 1 July 2016 to
31 December 2016, as well as any modifications to the Post-Closing Bonus (as defined below) taking account of all relevant factors, including the relevant
provisions under Mr. Kestenbaum’s Employment Agreement (as described in the Directors’ Remuneration Policy). Any offer of the annual bonus award will
be on the basis that it is not a breach or an intention to breach any existing contractual commitment to Mr. Kestenbaum.
In summary, the Globe Bonus (which is constituted by an award agreement between Globe and Mr. Kestenbaum dated 28 September 2015, and governed by
the laws of the State of Delaware) operates as follows, based on the Business Combination having completed on 23 December 2015. With respect to the
period commencing 1 July 2015 and ending on 30 November 2015 (that is, the end of the last full month prior to the Business Combination), the bonus
amount is calculated based on 8% of Globe’s modified EBITDA and 2% of Globe’s modified free cash flow subject to a 20% return on committed capital
threshold (the “financial element”) for that period (the “Pre-Closing Bonus”). With respect to the period commencing on 1 December 2015 and ending on
30 June 2016, the bonus amount is calculated based, in equal weight, on: (a) the financial element for that period relating to Globe’s consolidated results (not
the combined results of Ferroglobe) and (b) a non-financial element which consists of four strategic goals set by Globe in relation to the Business
Combination (the “Post-Closing Bonus”). The Globe Bonus can reach a maximum payment of $20 million at which amount it is capped. Globe’s
compensation committee, by a unanimous decision (following the Amendment), has the discretion to reduce the bonus payable based on an assessment of
Globe’s performance relative to a comparator group of companies and assessed using a number of different measures and bases. Part of the Globe Bonus
earned is deferred into restricted stock units which vest annually in three equal tranches but with release of the shares only at the end of a three year period.
The level of deferral is determined by reference to the amount of bonus earned. For bonuses of $2 million or less there is no deferral. For bonuses of between
$2 million and $5 million, 20% of that part in excess of $2 million is deferred with increasing tranches of deferral so that if the maximum bonus is paid of $20
million 53% of the total bonus is deferred.
Prior to the Business Combination, Globe’s compensation committee estimated the level of Pre-Closing Bonus to be $4,878,000, based on the committee’s
estimate of the results for the relevant period. 90% of the $3,777,000 cash element was paid to Mr. Kestenbaum on 22 December 2015 in accordance with the
terms of the Globe Bonus with 97,339 restricted stock units with respect to Ferroglobe shares being granted on 22 December 2015 for 90% of the $1,101,000
deferred element. Following the Business Combination, in order to finalise the balancing payment the Compensation Committee requested, in its meeting
held on 20 April 2016, the Audit Committee to provide the corresponding calculations and verifications.
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Legacy Arrangements for the Executive Chairman (continued)
Grants of Equity Awards
As of the date of the Business Combination, Mr. Kestenbaum held the following equity grants awarded by Globe with respect to Globe’s shares: 500,000
shares underlying vested options, 381,155 shares underlying unvested cash settled restricted stock units which vest in instalments and will become fully
vested by 22 December 2018, 108,578 unvested restricted shares vesting on 13 November 2020, and 605,245 shares underlying unvested cash settled stock
appreciation rights which vest in instalments and will become fully vested by 11 December 2018 (the “Globe Equity Awards”).
Following the Business Combination, pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, the Company assumed the Globe Equity Awards which
have been converted into awards to acquire Ordinary Shares. The Globe Equity Awards vest in full upon a termination of the employment of Mr. Kestenbaum
without cause or for good reason prior to the second anniversary of the date of the Business Combination, or by reason of his death or disability. If
Mr. Kestenbaum’s employment is terminated for cause, or if he resigns without good reason, then the Globe Equity Awards will lapse. The Globe Equity
Awards (as exchanged into Ferroglobe awards) are summarised in tabular form in this report.
Fees for the Non-Executive Directors
The fee structure and levels were set following the Business Combination. Fees will be reviewed, but not necessarily increased annually, with increases
effective normally from 1 January each year. A summary of current fees is shown below:
Non-Executive Director base fee

£70,000 (€96,972)

Senior Independent Director (no current Independent Director)

£35,000 (€48,486)

Member of Audit Committee

£17,500 (€24,243)

Member of Compensation Committee

£15,500 (€21,472)

Member of Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

£12,000 (€16,624)

Committee Chairman

Two times membership fee

Travel fee (per meeting)
Intercontinental travel

£3,500 (€4,849)

Continental travel

£1,500 (€2,078)

The travel fee (payable for each meeting attended) is to compensate the Non-Executive Directors for their time spent in travelling to meetings.
Because of the additional time commitment required of the Non-Executive Directors as a result of the Business Combination the Non-Executive Directors
will be paid an additional fee for 2016 equal to 50% of the fees payable as set out above (other than the base and travel fees).
Remuneration paid in respect of the period 23 to 31 December 2015
The Company’s senior executives (including the Executive Directors) were previously either employees of Globe, (a U.S. listed company) or the private
family-owned FerroAtlántica. These companies’ remuneration arrangements were very different. Globe’s arrangements were typically individual contracts
with very formulaic methodology to calculate annual bonus and long term incentive awards/payments. The FerroAtlántica arrangements were more common
for a family-owned/controlling shareholder business and provided a less leveraged opportunity to benefit from shareholder value creation. In the limited time
since the Business Combination, the Compensation Committee has not held conclusive discussions with Mr. Kestenbaum on accommodating a move to a
new remuneration policy. In addition to the requirement to disclose remuneration paid in relation to the period from the Business Combination on
23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015 and in
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Remuneration paid in respect of the period 23 to 31 December 2015 (continued)
order to aid understanding of the current arrangements details of the remuneration earned in each of the last five years by the Chief Executive Officer of
Globe (who left the Globe business in 2015) and Mr. Kestenbaum as the executive chairman of Globe are included in this report.
Single Figure of Remuneration for the period 23 December to 31 December 2015 – Audited
The table below shows the aggregate emoluments earned by the directors of the Company from 23 December to 31 December 2015.
in EUR

Executive
Alan Kestenbaum
Javier López Madrid
Non-Executive
Donald G. Barger, Jr.
Bruce L. Crockett
Stuart E. Eizenstat
Tomás García Madrid
Greger Hamilton
Javier Monzón
Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Salary & Fees (1)

Benefits (2)

19,925

1,791

2015
2015

Pension (3)

Long-Term
Incentives (5)

Annual Bonus (4)

Total

21,716
—

2015
2015
2015
2015
2015
2015
2015

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Salary & Fees is the pro-rated amount payable for the full year.
Benefits include automobile lease expenses, parking fees, housing expenses, certain relocation expenses, and advisory service fees. This is a pro-rated
amount of the full year value of benefits.
The 401(k) pension cap for Mr. Kestenbaum had been reached before 23 December 2015 and no pension is payable for the period 23 December 2015 to
31 December 2015.
The annual bonus covering the period 23 December to 31 December 2015 is part of the Post-Close Bonus and will be determined following the end of
the performance period on 30 June 2016. It is not possible to provide a reliable estimate of this bonus amount which will be disclosed in the
remuneration report for 2016.
No long-term incentives vested (or had a performance period ending) during the period 23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015.

Summary of remuneration paid for 2011 to 2015
Although not a requirement of the Regulations the following table below sets out the remuneration for 2011 to 2015 (with information for 2011, 2012 and
2013 unaudited and for 2014 and 2015 audited) for both Jeff Bradley as the Chief Executive Officer of Globe and Mr. Kestenbaum as the Executive
Chairman of Globe.

Option
Awards (1)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
(2)

Retirement
Benefits
(3)

Other
Compensation
(4)

in USD

Year

Salary

Stock
Awards

Globe Executive Chairman

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

$991,219
$995,000
$995,000
$995,000
$995,000

$1,968,519
$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—

$4,530,000
$
—
$1,471,301
$1,494,363
$ 867,000

$ 10,394,000
$ 6,405,000
$ 3,852,362
$ 6,993,774
$ 9,858,909

$
$
$
$
$

—
—
3,825
3,900
3,975

$
$
$
$
$

Globe CEO

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

$660,417
$700,000
$700,000
$700,000
$467,000*

$
$
$
$
$

$2,378,250
$
—
$1,035,084
$ 700,871
$3,040,400

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

3,675
3,750
3,825
3,900
3,975

$
$
$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—
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4,455,000
2,745,000
1,490,610
2,952,356
1,524,000

—
—
—
60,788
89,426
—
—
—
—
—

Total

$17,883,738
$ 7,400,000
$ 6,322,488
$ 9,547,825
$11,814,310
$
$
$
$
$

7,497,342
3,448,750
3,229,519
4,357,127
5,035,375
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Summary of remuneration paid for 2011 to 2015 (continued)
Tables shows remuneration earned for calendar years specified
1.
Reflects awards of options and/or cash settled stock appreciation rights. Award valuation was performed using a Black-Scholes option pricing model
on the date of grant. Life was estimated based on the average of the vesting term and contractual life of the award. The risk free rate used in the model
was the zero-coupon government bond interest rate at the time of option grant of the instrument with the term closest to the estimated option life. The
expected dividend yield is estimated over the expected life of the awards based on Globe’s historical annual dividend activity. Volatility reflects
movements in Globe’s stock price over the most recent historical period equivalent to the expected life of the awards. However, since historical trading
data related to Globe’s common stock does not exceed the expected life of certain awards, the expected volatility over the term of these awards is
estimated using the historical volatility of similar companies.
2.
Represents cash payments and the portion cash payments deferred into restricted stock awards granted under under the Level One Plan.
3.
Retirement benefits include Globe’s 401(k) which is intended to qualify as a tax qualified plan under Section 401 of the Code. The 401(k) plan
provides that each participant may contribute a portion of his or her pretax compensation, up to a statutory limit, and that contribution receives a 25%
match by Globe, up to 6% of salary, with a cap on salary. Globe did not provide any other supplemental retirement benefits to its executive officers.
4.
Other compensation includes automobile lease expenses, parking fees, housing expenses, certain relocation expenses, and advisory service fees.
5.
The information included for 2011, 2012 and 2013 is unaudited.
6.
The data for 2011, 2012, 2013 is taken from Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC for the year ended 30 June 2015. The data for 2014 and 2015 is compiled
by the Company (as there is no proxy filing for these calendar years).
Annual bonus for the period 23 to 31 December 2015 – Audited
As explained on pages 26 and 27 under the heading “Legacy Arrangements for the Executive Chairman” the annual bonus for the period 23 December to 31
December 2015 forms part of the Post-Closing Bonus covering the period from 1 December 2015 to 30 June 2016. This bonus should be determined at the
end of the performance period on 30 June 2016. It is not possible to provide a reliable estimate of the amount payable for the period 23 December to 31
December 2015. Using an nine day pro-rated amount of the annual bonus earned for the Globe financial year ended 30 June 2015 of $8.966 million (€8.192
million) would provide a nine day amount of $221,079 (€201,994). This amount is not however included in the table of remuneration.
Long term incentive awards for the financial period ended 31 December 2015 – Audited
No long-term incentives awarded or vested in the period 23 December to 31 December 2015.
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Directors’ shareholding and share interests – Audited
The table below sets out the number of shares held or potentially held by directors (including their connected persons where relevant) as at 31 December
2015.

Director

Executive Directors
Alan Kestenbaum
Javier López Madrid
Non-executive Directors
Donald G. Barger, Jr.
Bruce L. Crockett
Stuart E. Eizenstat
Tomás García Madrid
Greger Hamilton
Javier Monzón
Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes
1.
2.

Number of
awards held
under
long-term
incentive
plans not
conditional on
performance

Beneficially owned shares

Target
shareholding
guideline
(as a % of
salary/gross fees) (1)

Percentage of
salary held in
shares as at
31 December
2015 (2)

8,887,338
—

954,642

200%
200%

9602%

8,630
—
5,079
—
—
—
—

27,835
30,493
26,003

200%
200%
200%
200%
200%
200%
200%

133%
0%
104%

The Non-Executive Directors have voluntarily agreed to apply at least a quarter of their annual gross fees (other than travel fees and the additional fees
payable for 2016) to acquire the Ordinary Shares. They (or their close family members) will then retain the Ordinary Shares worth a minimum of twice
these gross fees (based on their acquisition cost).
Using the share price at 31 December 2015.
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Directors’ shareholding and share interests – Audited (continued)
The following incentive awards are held by the Directors listed below and which the Company is authorised to honour upon shareholder approval of the
Directors’ Remuneration Policy.

Participant

Barger
Barger
Barger
Crockett
Crockett
Crockett
Eizenstat
Eizenstat
Eizenstat
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Kestenbaum
Total

Type

NQ
RSU/C
SAR
SAR
NQ
RSU/C
NQ
RSU/C
SAR
NQ
RSU
RSU/C
RSU/C
RSU/C
RSU/C
RSU/C
RSU/C
RSU/C
RSU/C
SAR
SAR
SAR

Grant Date

Outstanding

Various
Various
Various
Various
Various
Various
Various
Various
Various
08/11/2011
01/27/2011
01/01/2013
02/25/2013
01/01/2014
04/24/2014
01/01/2015
03/15/2015
09/18/2015
12/22/2015
08/20/2013
03/20/2014
12/11/2015

42,859
26,514
15,087
2,303
26,226
5,300
42,859
2,773
15,087
500,000
108,578
95,273
4,241
22,543
20,049
78,239
16,155
127,856
97,339
424,006
185,866
340,000
2,199,153

Exercisable
as of
12/31/2015

26,193
21,909
8,523
—
1,226
2,110
26,193
—
8,523
500,000
—
95,273
2,827
7,515
6,683
—
—
—
—
282,671
61,956
—
1,051,602

Future
Vesting

16,666
4,605
6,564
2,303
25,000
3,190
16,666
2,773
6,564
—
108,578
—
1,414
15,028
13,366
78,239
16,155
127,856
97,339
141,335
123,910
340,000
1,147,551

Final Vest Date

03/06/2017
12/31/2017
8/20/2016
2/27/2016
02/27/2018
12/31/2017
3/19/2017
7/1/2016
8/20/2016
NA
11/13/2020
NA
02/26/2016
01/01/2017
04/24/2017
01/01/2018
03/15/2018
09/18/2018
12/22/2018
08/20/2016
03/20/2017
12/11/2018

Total pension entitlements – Audited
Details of the value of pension contributions received since the Business Combination are provided in the ‘Pensions’ column of the “Single Figure of
Remuneration” table. Pension contributions are by way of a cash allowance or contribution to a 401(k) plan. There are therefore no specified retirement ages
to disclose or consequences of early retirement.
Payments to past directors
None
Payments for loss of office
None
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Performance graph and Executive Chairman remuneration table
The graph below illustrates the Company’s TSR performance relative to the constituents of the S&P SmallCap (600) index and the S&P 600 Metals & Mining
index of which the Company is a constituent, from the start of the first day of listing of Ferroglobe’s shares on 24 December 2015 to 31 December 2015. The
graph shows performance of a hypothetical €100 invested and its performance over that period. The indices have been chosen for this table as the most
appropriate comparator for the Company in this period.

As a further reference point for shareholders, the graph below illustrates the TSR performance for Globe relative to the constituents of the S&P SmallCap
(600) index and the S&P 600 Metals & Mining index of which Globe was a constituent, from 1 January 2010 (the beginning of the first full calendar year
following listing) to the date of delisting on 24 December 2015. The graph shows performance of a hypothetical €100 invested and its performance over that
period.
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Performance graph and Executive Chairman remuneration table (continued)
The percentage of the maximum annual bonus and long-term incentive award are disclosed in the table below. As the Company listed in 2015 no
comparative data has been provided for earlier years. However the Executive Chairman’s salary has not been increased over the previous year.
2015

Executive Chairman’s total remuneration
Annual bonus (% of maximum)
Share award vesting (% of maximum)

€21,716
N/A
N/A

Notes:
Remuneration shown for the period 23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015 only.
There was no long-term incentive vesting (or with a performance period ending) in the period 23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015.
The period 23 December 2015 to 31 December 2015 falls into the Post-Closing Bonus and will not be determined until after the end of the performance
period on 30 June 2016. It is not possible to provide a reliable estimate of the amount that might be payable and is relevant to this nine day period.
Percentage increase in the remuneration of the Executive Chairman
As the Company listed during 2015, there is no disclosure of remuneration relating to prior years. Accordingly, this report does not set out the percentage
change in remuneration between 2014 and 2015.
Relative importance of the spend on pay
The following table shows the Company’s actual spend on pay for all employees compared to distributions to shareholders in the financial year.
December 23, 2015 to
December 31, 2015

in EUR

Employee costs
Average number of employees
Distributions to shareholders

6,016,254
4,151
—

Note: This represents nine days of the annual employee costs for the combined businesses of Globe and FerroAtlantica.
External directorships
Mr. Kestenbaum
•

Principal, board member and investor of Bedrock Industries LLP.

Mr. Kestenbaum’s contract provides that he spends at least 70% of his working week as the Executive Chairman of Ferroglobe.
Mr. López Madrid
•

Co-Managing Director of Grupo VM.

•

Non-Executive Chairman and investor of Siacapital and Tressis.
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External directorships (continued)
Taking the above into account, the Board is comfortable that under these arrangements the Executive Chairman and Executive Vice-Chairman both have the
necessary time to carry out their duties effectively.
Membership of the Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee comprises Javier Monzón as chairman and members Donald G. Barger, Jr., and Greger Hamilton who were appointed on 23
December 2015 and served through to 31 December 2015. No meetings of the Compensation Committee were held during this period.
The Executive Chairman and other members of the management team as well as the other Non-Executive Directors may be invited to attend meetings to assist
the Compensation Committee in its deliberations as appropriate. No executive, however, is present during any decision making in relation to their own
remuneration.
External advisors
Aon provides independent advice to the Compensation Committee and was appointed by the Compensation Committee in early 2016. The Compensation
Committee seeks advice relating to executive remuneration and non-executive director remuneration and the wider senior management population from Aon.
Aon does not provide any other services to the Company.
The Compensation Committee is satisfied that the advice received from Aon in relation to executive remuneration matters is objective and independent. Aon
is a member of the UK Remuneration Consultants Group and abides by the Remuneration Consultants Group Code of Conduct, which requires its advice to
be objective and impartial. There was no advice provided by and no fees paid to Aon in 2015.
Statement of shareholder voting
As Ferroglobe has not held an Annual General Meeting since listing there are no voting outcomes available. Details of remuneration related voting outcomes
will be published in next year’s directors’ remuneration report.
Approval
This Directors’ Remuneration Report, including both the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and Annual Report on Remuneration has been approved by the
Board.
Signed on behalf of the Board.

Javier Monzón
Chairman of the Compensation Committee
29 May 2016
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferroglobe PLC
We have audited the financial statements of the Company for the period ended 31 December 2015 which comprise the Profit and loss account, Balance Sheet,
Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash flow statement and the related notes 1 to 8. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as issued by the IASB.
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (U.K. and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards
for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information
in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of its loss for the period then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB
As explained in note 1 to the financial statements, the Company in addition to applying IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as
issued by the IASB.
In our opinion the financial statements comply with IFRSs as issued by the IASB.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006;
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Ferroglobe PLC
(continued)
•

the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial period for which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material
misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Makhan Chahal (ACA Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
29 May 2016
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Ferroglobe PLC
Financial Statements
Profit and loss account
For the period ended 31 December 2015
(Thousand of Euros)

Note

Administrative expenses
Operating loss

2

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on loss on ordinary activities
Loss for the period
Notes 1 to 8 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Period from
23 December to
31 December
2015

Period from
incorporation to
22 December
2015

(17,576)
(17,576)

(63)
(63)

(17,576)
(13)
(17,589)

(63)
13
(50)
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Ferroglobe PLC
Financial Statements
Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2015
(Thousand of Euros)

31 December
2015

22 December
2015
(Restated)
See note 4

4

77
122
199

89
121
210

3

932,998
933,197

—
210

5

(26,555)
(26,555)
(26,555)
906,642

(70)
(70)
(70)
140

Note

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash at bank and in hand
Total current assets
Non-Current assets
Investments in Group Companies
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Other reserves
Retained Earnings
Shareholders’ funds

6

1,180,709
(256,549)
(17,518)
906,642

Notes 1 to 8 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements of the Company with registration number 9425113 were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 29 May 2016.
Signed on behalf of the Board.

Greger Hamilton
Director
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Ferroglobe PLC
Financial Statements
Statement of changes in equity
For the period ended 31 December 2015
(Thousand of Euros)
Balance at
22 December
2015
(Restated)
See note 4

Share capital
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total own funds

69
—
71
140

Notes 1 to 8 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Issue of
share
capital

1,180,640
—
—
1,180,640

Share
issuance
cost

—
(8,907)
—
(8,907)

Other
movements

—
(247,642)
—
(247,642)

Result for
the period

—
—
(17,589)
(17,589)

Balance at
31 December
2015

1,180,709
(256,549)
(17,518)
906,642
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Ferroglobe PLC
Financial Statements
Cash flow statement
For the period ended 31 December 2015
(Thousand of Euros)

Note

Loss for the period
Taxation
Decrease/(increase) in receivables
Increase in payables
Net cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds on issue of shares (see note 6)
Capital contribution
Share issuance costs
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Period from
23 December to
31 December
2015

Period
ended
22 December
2015

(17,589)

(50)

—
12
26,485

—
(20)
70

8,908

—

—
—
(8,907)
(8,907)
1

—
121
—
121
121

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

121
122

—
121

Reconciliation to cash at bank and in hand:
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash and cash equivalents

122
122

121
121

Notes 1 to 8 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ferroglobe PLC
Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 December 2015
1.

Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the period.
a.

General information and basis of accounting

The Company is a public limited company limited by shares and is incorporated under the laws of England and Wales. The Company’s registered number is
9425113. The address of the registered office is given on page 1. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are incorporated by
reference in the Strategic Report on page 3.
The financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors of the Company in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as issued by
the IASB and applicable law. The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.
The functional currency of the Company is considered to be Euros because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company
operates.
The Company is exempt from the preparation of consolidated financial statements, since it is included in the group accounts of Grupo VM. The group
accounts of Grupo VM are available for public use and can be obtained as set out in note 8. In addition, the Company prepares consolidated accounts on
2015 Form 20-F in accordance with IFRSs as issued by IASB, which are also filed with the SEC.
b.

Going concern

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the strategic
report.
The Company will meet its day to day working capital requirements through financing received from its principal subsidiaries following the Business
Combination. Prior to this date, the Company received funding from its shareholder, Grupo VM.
The Company’s forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the Company should be able to
operate within the level of its current available resources.
The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus
they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.
c.

Taxation

Current tax, including U.K. corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that
result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are
differences between the
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Ferroglobe PLC
Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 December 2015
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Group’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods
different from those in which they are recognised in the financial statements.
Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date that are expected to apply to
the reversal of the timing difference.
Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
d.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date.
Other exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
e.

Investments in subsidiaries and impairment

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.
At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its investments to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any).
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
f.

Adoption of new and revised standards

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current financial period. Their adoption has not had any significant
impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements.
•

Amendments to IAS 39 (Jun 2013) – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting

•

Amendments to IAS 36 (May 2013) – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
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Ferroglobe PLC
Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 December 2015
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

•

IFRIC 21 – Levies

•

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 (Oct 2012) – Investment Entities

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these financial
statements were in issue but not yet effective:
•

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 15 – Revenue recognition

•

Amendment to IAS 27

•

Amendment to IAS 16 and 38

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company in future
periods.
2.

Result for the period

The fee payable to the Company’s auditors amounted to 16,200 Euros (period ended 22 December 2015: 16,200 Euros). Non-audit related assurance services
amount nil (period ended 22 December 2015: 6,750 Euros).
3.

Investments in subsidiaries
Thousands
of Euros

At 22 December 2015
Arising on merger
At 31 December 2015

—
932,998
932,998

The Company’s investments at the balance sheet date in the share capital of the companies include the following:
Company

Grupo FerroAtlántica, S.A.U.
Globe Specialty Metals, Inc.

Country

Spain
United States of
America

% of
possession

Currency

100
100

EUR
USD

Purpose

Electrometalurgy and Energy
Electrometalurgy

The directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying net assets or expected cash generation.
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Ferroglobe PLC
Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 December 2015
3.

Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The following are the principal subsidiary undertakings of the Group:
Name

Country of incorporation

FerroAtlántica, S.A.U
Hidro-Nitro Española, S.A.
FerroAtlántica de Venezuela (FerroVen), S.A.
FerroPem, S.A.S.
Silicon Smelters (Pty.), Ltd.
Globe Metallurgical, Inc.
WVA Manufacturing, LLC
Quebec Silicon LP
Globe Metales, S.A.
4.

Spain
Spain
Venezuela
France
South Africa
United States of America
United States of America
Canada
Argentina

Nature of the business

Electrometallurgy and Energy
Electrometallurgy and Energy
Electrometallurgy
Electrometallurgy
Electrometallurgy
Electrometallurgy
Electrometallurgy
Electrometallurgy
Electrometallurgy

Trade and other receivables

Corporation tax recoverable
Amounts receivable from group companies
VAT recoverable
Total trade and other receivables

Balance as at
31 December
2015
Thousands
of Euros

Balance as at
22 December
2015
Thousands
of Euros
(Restated)

—
69
8
77

12
69
8
89

€69,000 of certain receivables, which were incorrectly accounted for as received at 22 December 2015, have been restated to reflect the amount remaining
unpaid at 22 December 2015. The payment received from Grupo VM as of 22 December 2015 has been updated to reflect an additional capital contribution
to the Company of €69,000.
5.

Trade and other payables

Amounts owed to related parties
Trade payables
Total trade and other payables
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Balance as at
31 December
2015
Thousands
of Euros

Balance as at
22 December
2015
Thousands
of Euros

26,532
23
26,555

47
23
70
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Ferroglobe PLC
Notes to the financial statements
For the period ended 31 December 2015
6.

Reconciliation of movements in shareholder’s funds

The amounts and movements of the equity instruments accounts during the period are as follows (thousands of Euros):
Balance at
22 December
2015
(Restated)
See note 4

Share capital
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total own funds

69
—
71
140

Issue of
share
capital

1,180,640
—
—
1,180,640

Share
issuance
cost

—
(8,907)
—
(8,907)

Merger
reserve

—
(247,642)
—
(247,642)

Result
for the
period

—
—
(17,589)
(17,589)

Balance at
31 December
2015

1,180,709
(256,549)
(17,518)
906,642

Other reserves comprise merger reserve which are not distributable, and share issuance costs.
The composition of the shareholders as of 31 December 2015 is as follows:
31 December
2015
% holding

Shareholders

Grupo Villar Mir, S.A.U.
Adage Capital Partners, L.P.
Alan Kestenbaum

57.0%
5.2%
5.1%

The Company (formerly known as VeloNewco Limited) was incorporated on 5 February 2015 and issued one ordinary share with a face value of $1.00. The
share was issued but uncalled. On 13 October 2015, the Company increased its share capital by £50,000 by issuing 50,000 sterling non-voting redeemable
preference shares as well as 14 ordinary shares with a par value of $1.00. Subsequently on 13 October 2015, the Company consolidated the 15 ordinary shares
at a par value of $1.00 into two ordinary shares with a par value of $7.50, for a total amount of $15.00. The two ordinary shares of par value $7.50 each were
redesignated into class A ordinary shares.
On 23 December 2015, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding ordinary shares from Grupo VM, par value €1,000 per share, of
FerroAtlántica. in exchange for 98,078,161 newly-issued Class A Ordinary Shares, nominal value $7.50 per share, making FerroAtlántica a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. This acquisition has been accounted for under the principles of predecessor accounting whereby the entity is included within the
pre-combination amounts. Subsequently on 23 December 2015, Gordon Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, merged with Globe
and all outstanding shares of Globe common stock, par value $0.0001 per share were converted to the right to receive one newly-issued Ordinary Share,
nominal value $7.50 per share. This business combination has been accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. The Ordinary Shares were
registered by the Company pursuant to a registration statement on Form F-4, which was declared effective by the the SEC on 11 August 2015, and trade on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker symbol “GSM.”
The Ordinary Shares and the Class A Ordinary Shares have the same rights, powers and preferences, and vote together as a single class, except for the right of
the holders of Ordinary Shares to receive the net proceeds, if any, of a representations and warranties insurance policy (the “R&W Policy”) purchased by the
Company in connection with the Business Combination. The R&W Policy insures the Company, for the benefit of the holders
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6.

Reconciliation of movements in shareholder’s funds (continued)

of Ordinary Shares, against certain breaches of certain representations and warranties made by Grupo VM and FerroAtlántica in the definitive transaction
agreement entered into on 23 February 2015 (as amended and restated on 5 May 2015) by, amongst others, the Company, Grupo VM and FerroAtlántica,
subject to the deductibles, caps and other limitations contained in the R&W Policy. Under the Company’s articles of association, the Company would be
required to distribute the aggregate net proceeds under the representations and warranties insurance policy, if any, to the holders of the Ordinary Shares.
Holders of Class A Ordinary Shares would not be entitled to participate in these distributions. Globe shareholders have received Ordinary Shares so that they
may receive the benefit of distributions from the net proceeds, if any, of the R&W Policy.
At 31 December 2015 there were 50,000 sterling non-voting redeemable preference shares, 98,078,163 Class A Ordinary Shares and 73,759,990 Ordinary
Shares, for a total issued and outstanding share capital of $1,288,787 thousands of dollars (equivalent 1,180,640 thousands of Euros).
7.

Related party balances and transactions

Current balances with related parties
Current balances with related parties at 31 December 2015 are as follows (thousands of Euros):
Receivables

Grupo Villar Mir, S.A.U
Grupo FerroAtlántica, S.A. (Sole-Shareholder Company)

69
—
69

Payables

—
(26,532)
(26,532)

Transactions with related parties
Transactions with related parties in 2015 are as follows (thousands of Euros):
Sales and
Operating
Income

Grupo FerroAtlántica, S.A. (Sole-Shareholder Company)
Total
8.

—
—

Cost of Sales

—
—

Other
Operating
Expenses

17,576
17,576

Controlling party

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s ultimate controlling party is Grupo VM, a company for which group accounts are prepared. Copies of the
group financial statements of Grupo VM are available from Grupo VM’s website www.grupovillarmir.es
46

Table of Contents

Ferroglobe PLC
GLOSSARY AND DEFINITIONS
The following definitions apply throughout this U.K. Annual Report unless the context requires otherwise:
“2015 Form 20-F”

the Company’s Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2015;

“Annual General Meeting”

the Company’s annual general meeting to be held on 29 June 2016;

“Aon”

Aon Plc;

“Auditor”

Deloitte LLP, the Company’s independent U.K. statutory auditor;

“Board”

the Company’s board of directors;

“Business Combination”

the business combination of Globe and FerroAtlántica as the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries on 23 December
2015;

“Business Combination Agreement”

the definitive transaction agreement entered into on 23 February 2015 (as amended and restated on 5 May 2015) by,
amongst others, the Company, Grupo VM, FerroAtlántica and Globe;

“Class A Ordinary Shares”

the ordinary shares of $7.50 in the capital of the Company;

“Companies Act”

the Companies Act 2006 of England and Wales;

“Company”

Ferroglobe PLC, a company incorporated in England and Wales;

“Company Ordinary Shares”

the Ordinary Shares and Class A Ordinary Shares;

“Compensation Committee”

the compensation committee of the Company;

“EBITDA”

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amoritisation;

“EU”

the European Union;

“Exchange Act”

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended) of the U.S.;

“Executive Chairman”

the executive chairman of the Company;

“Executive Directors”

the executive directors of the Company;

“Executive Vice-Chairman”

the executive vice-chairman of the Company;

“FerroAtlántica”

Grupo FerroAtlántica, S.A.U. a joint stock company organised under the laws of Italy, including (where the context
so requires), its subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings;

“Ferroglobe”

the Company or, as the context requires, the Group;

“Globe”

Globe Specialty Metals, Inc., a Delaware corporation, including (whether the context requires) its subsidiaries and
subsidiary undertakings;

“Group”

the Company and its subsidiaries;

“Grupo VM”

Grupo Villar Mir, S.A.U.;

“IASB”

International Accounting Standards Board;

“IFRS”

International Financial Reporting Standards;
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“KPI”

key performance indicator;

“NASDAQ”

the NASDAQ Global Market;

“NASDAQ Rules”

the NASDAQ Stock Market Rules;

“Non-Executive Directors”

the non-executive directors of the Company;

“Ordinary Shares”

the ordinary shares of $7.50 each in the capital of the Company;

“SEC”

the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission;

“U.K.”

the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland;

“U.S.”

the United States of America; and

“$”

U.S. dollars.
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